Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

12-11-2023 12:00 PM

SUFU in SHH signalling mediated myogenesis

Suleyman Abdullah, Western University

Supervisor: Kelly, Gregory, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Biology © Suleyman Abdullah 2023

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Developmental Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Abdullah, Suleyman, "SUFU in SHH signalling mediated myogenesis" (2023). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 9877. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9877

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Myogenesis is defined as the formation of skeletal muscle tissue during embryonic development and involves a multitude of cellular signalling pathways. Among these include the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signalling pathway which must be deactivated for differentiation into muscle cells to occur. However, less is known regarding the pathways operation during cell differentiation and whether Suppressor of Fused (SUFU), the protein inhibitor of Shh signalling, plays a role. To address this, mouse C2C12 myoblast cells were utilized as a model and differentiated into muscle cells to identify the presence of SUFU during this time. Experiments in qRT-PCR show a decrease in Shh responsive gene transcripts after induced differentiation thus confirming the deactivation of the pathway during this time. Alongside this, immunoblotting results show the absence of SUFU during proliferation of the cells and its presence throughout differentiation. These results postulate a role for SUFU as an inhibitor during Shh mediated myogenesis.

Keywords

Skeletal muscle, Myogenesis, Myoblast, Myocyte, Myotube, Differentiation, Pluripotency, Embryonic development, Sonic hedgehog signaling, Suppressor of Fused, C2C12 cells

Summary for Lay Audience

During embryonic development, the structures and organs of the eventual adult body are built through differentiating cells. Cell differentiation is defined as the process whereby cells transform into that of a more specialized type with unique properties such as that of a muscle cell. For this process to occur, cells must receive a message in the form of a molecule or protein which binds to their surface. Upon successful delivery of this message, a chain reaction occurs within the cell whereby proteins pass along the newly delivered message to each other. The final protein in this chain then activates cell type specific genes needed for differentiation to occur such as genes involved in building the architecture of a muscle cell with the ability to contract. This successive passing of information is known as a cellular signalling pathway which exists in many different forms, each of which can signal cells to perform different actions.

The process in which undifferentiated cells transform into muscle cells is known as myogenesis. Many different signalling pathways participate in this process including the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signalling pathway which must be deactivated for differentiation to occur. However, little is known regarding how this specific pathway is regulated during this time. Of particular interest to this thesis is the presence of the protein Suppressor of Fused (SUFU) during myogenesis which acts as an inhibitor to Shh signalling.

To identify the presence of SUFU during myogenesis, the C2C12 cell line was used as a cellular model for the experiments of this study to replicate differentiation as it occurs during development. These cells were originally isolated from mice and consist of myoblasts, the precursor to muscle cells. In this study, once C2C12 myoblast cell differentiation was induced, samples of the cells were collected at each day of differentiation and used in experimentation to determine the activation/deactivation of Shh signalling and presence of SUFU. Shh signalling was found to decrease throughout differentiation while SUFU was found to be present during this time. These results postulate that SUFU may play a role in the inhibition of Shh signalling during myogenesis.

Co-Authorship Statement

The studies and experiments in this thesis were all performed by Suleyman Abdullah under the supervision of Dr. Gregory M. Kelly who helped aid in project conceptualization, experimental design, data analysis, and financial assistance.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Gregory Kelly, for accepting me into the Kelly Lab and allowing me to cultivate my skills as a researcher in developmental biology. Thank you for your guidance on experimental design and scientific writing as well as your teachings on critical thinking and problem solving. To my advisory committee, Dr. Sashko Damjanovski and Dr. Timothy Regnault, thank you for your expertise towards my research and support throughout the duration of my degree.

I would like to thank all past and current members of the Kelly Lab for their help and contribution to my development as a scientist. To Dr. Mohammad Gatie, Dr. Danielle Spice, and Renee Resendes, I thank you for the mentorship and advice given to me while still a novice student. To Celina Valvano, Nuwanthika Gedara, and Joshua Bulfango, thank you for your continued support, friendship, and encouragement throughout the years.

I would like to thank my family for their immense impact on me throughout the course of my life. To my parents Obaid and Mahbouba Abdullah, thank you for your unconditional love throughout my life and support in my academic years. To my sister Larah Abdullah, thank you for always believing in my abilities and for being my closest friend in life.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Summary for Lay Audience	iii
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Acknowledgments	V
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
List of Abbreviations	xii
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Skeletal muscle	2
1.1.1 Skeletal muscle structure	3
1.1.2 Skeletal muscle function	5
1.2 skeletal muscle development	7
1.2.1 Myogenesis <i>in vivo</i>	7
1.2.2 Skeletal muscle regeneration	12
1.3 Skeletal muscle development on a cellular level	12
1.3.1 Myogenesis <i>in vitro</i>	12
1.3.2 C2C12 cells as a model for myogenesis	16

1.4 Cellular signalling pathways in muscle development16
1.4.1 Wnts17
1.4.2 Bone morphogenetic proteins
1.4.3 Fibroblast growth factors
1.4.4 Notch
1.4.5 Sonic hedgehog
1.5 Investigating the role of SUFU in myogenesis using cellular and molecular tools32
1.6 Rationale, hypothesis, objectives
Chapter 2
2 Materials and Methods
2.1 Cell culture
2.2 Cell microscopy
2.3 RT-qPCR
2.4 Immunoblotting
2.5 Generation of Sufu deficient cell lines
2.6 Statistical analysis
Chapter 3
3 Results
3.1 Shh signalling decreases during myogenesis
3.2 SUFU is present during myogenesis

3.3 Constitutive activation of Shh signalling disrupts myogenesis4	5
3.4 Constitutive activation of Shh signalling has no effect on SUFU durin	g
differentation	8
3.5 Utilizing the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system to generate Sufu-/- C2C1	2
cells	1
Chapter 45	4
4 Discussion	4
4.1 Summary of findings5	4
4.1.1 Modelling myogenesis in C2C12 cells	4
4.1.2 Sonic hedgehog signalling in C2C12 cells	5
4.1.3 The presence of SUFU in differentiating C2C12 cells	7
4.2 Limitations and future directions	2
4.3 Conclusion	5
References	6
Curriculum Vitae	8

List of Tables

Table 1. Endpoint RT-PCR and qRT-PCR primer sequences for target genes
Table 2. Primers used for CRISPR/Cas9

List of Figures

Figure 1. The structure of the skeletal muscle
Figure 2. Skeletal muscle contraction
Figure 3. Formation of the somite and primary myotome during embryonic development
Figure 4. Muscle cell differentiation <i>in vitro</i> 15
Figure 5. The Wnt signalling pathway
Figure 6. The Bone morphogenetic (BMP) signalling pathway21
Figure 7. The Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signalling pathway24
Figure 8. The Notch signalling pathway
Figure 9. The Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signalling pathway
Figure 10. The differentiation of C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes40
Figure 11. mRNA levels of Shh responsive genes in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells
Figure 12. Protein levels of myogenic markers and SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells
Figure 13. mRNA levels of Shh responsive genes in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells treated with SAG
Figure 14. The differentiation of SAG treated C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes47
Figure 15. Protein levels for myogenic markers and SUFU in differentiating C2C12
myoblast cells treated with SAG

Figure 16. Genetic analysis determining the successful generation of a Sufu-/-	C2C12
clone within a CRISPR-Cas9 generated mutant clonal pool	52
Figure 17. The presence of SUFU in CRISPR-Cas9 generated C2C12 mutant cells .	53

Figure 18. Model for the role of SUFU during Shh signalling mediated myogenesis......60

List of Abbreviations

- °C Degrees Celsius
- α-actin Alpha actin
- ADAM10 A disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 10
- ADP Adenosine diphosphate
- ALDH1A2 Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member A2
- APC Adenomatous polyposis coli
- ATP Adenosine triphosphate
- BMPR Bone morphogenetic protein receptor
- **BMP** Bone morphogenetic protein
- Ca²⁺ Calcium
- **CBF1** C promoter binding factor 1
- CK1 Casein kinase 1
- CDC42 Cell division control protein 42
- CYP26 Cytochrome P450 26
- DACH1 Dachshund family transcription factor 1
- DAMP Damage-associated molecular pattern
- **DHH** Desert hedghog
- Dll1 Delta like-1
- **DHPR** Dihydropiridine receptors

Dvl - Disheveled

- **EB** Embryoid bodies
- **EPH** Epinephrine
- **ESC** Embryonic stem cell
- **EVC -** Ellis-van Creveld protein
- FGF Fibroblast Growth Factor
- FOXC Forkhead Box C
- FZD Frizzled
- GDP Guanosine diphosphate
- GRB2 Guanine nucleotide exchange factor 2
- **GSK3\beta** Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta
- GTP Guanosine triphosphate
- HES7 Hairy and enhancer of split families protein
- HGF Hepatocyte growth factor
- HH Hedgehog
- HSMM Human skeletal muscle myoblast
- IGF Insulin growth factor
- IFT Intraflagellar transport protein
- IHH Indian hedgehog
- JAK Janus kinase

- KIF7 Kinesin family member 7
- LEF Leukemia inhibitory factor
- LRP Low density lipoprotein-related protein
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase (also known as ERK)
- MAPKK Mitogen activated protein kinase kinase (also known as MEK)
- MEF2C Myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2C
- **MEOX** Mesenchyme Homeobox
- MESP2 Mesoderm posterior protein 2
- MHC Myosin heavy chain
- MRF Myogenic regulatory factor
- MSC Multipotent stem cell
- MSGN1 Mesogenin 1
- mTORC1 Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1
- MYF5 Myogenic factor 5
- MYOD Myoblast determination protein 1
- MYOG Myogenin
- NICD Intracellular domain of Notch
- NKX3.2 NK3 homeobox 2
- P Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
- PTCH Patched

PAX - Paired Box

- PI3k/AKT Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
- PITX2 Paired-like homeodomain transcription factor 2
- PKA Protein kinase A
- **PSC** Pluripotent stem cell
- qRT-PCR Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction
- RAC1 Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1
- RA Retinoic acid
- RAF Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma
- **RTK** Receptor tyrosine kinase
- **RIPPLY** Ripply transcriptional repressor
- **RyR** Ryanodine receptors
- **SAG** Smoothened agonist
- SAP18 Sin3A associated protein 18
- **SERCA** Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase
- SHH Sonic Hedgehog
- SMO Smoothened
- **SOS** Son of sevenless
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins
- SUFU Suppressor of Fused

TBX6 - T-box 6

TCF15 - Transcription factor 15

TCF - T cell factor

- $TGF-\beta$ Transforming growth factor-beta
- **TSC** Tuberous sclerosis protein
- **T-Tubule** Transverse tubular system
- **T** T-box transcription factor T

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Cellular differentiation is defined as cells altering their functional and phenotypical characteristics into that of a more specialized type. The process occurs whereby undifferentiated progenitor cells, or partially differentiated progenitor cells with the ability to indefinitely proliferate undergo various changes induced by regulatory proteins to give rise to various types of cells¹. Stem cells are found both during embryonic development and within specific microenvironments in adult organisms². As these cells differentiate, their level of cellular potency lowers, meaning that the potential pool of cell lineages that can be differentiated begins to decrease³. Cells with the ability to differentiate into all cell types of the adult organism as well as the placenta are known as totipotent cells. In mammals this includes the zygote and blastomeres during early embryonic development⁴. Conversely, cells that can only give rise to all adult cell types are known as pluripotent and consist of embryonic stem cells⁴. Finally, cells that can differentiate into a select few but highly related cell types are known as multipotent. These multipotent or progenitor cells can only replicate a finite number of times and are usually specific to a cell lineage relating to a single organ⁴.

The process of cellular differentiation is responsible for the formation of complex systems of tissues and organs during embryonic development. One form of differentiation is myogenesis in which muscle cells are generated. Muscle is created as stem cells pass through multiple stages of differentiation resulting in mononucleated mesodermal progenitor cells fusing to form elongated multinucleated myofibers⁵. This differentiation is regulated through the activation of multiple transcriptional factors known as myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), which upregulate muscle specific genes⁶. Furthermore, these MRFs are controlled through the activation/deactivation of many integral signalling pathways, one involving the ligand Sonic Hedgehog (Shh)⁷. Much of how this Shh signalling pathway operates during muscle differentiation has been explored with previous research showing its deactivation as a requirement for the proper formation of muscle cells.

However, the function of many of its protein players, including the inhibitor Suppressor of Fused (SUFU)⁸, remains largely unknown. Understanding how this protein inhibitor may affect the pathway will help to further elucidate how Shh mediated myogenesis operates during embryonic muscle development.

In this chapter, I will provide a brief background on skeletal muscle anatomy and physiology. Then, I will detail the process of skeletal muscle development and muscle cell differentiation both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Furthermore, I will discuss the different cellular pathways involved in myogenesis and highlight how Shh signalling pathway is involved. Finally, I will discuss my hypothesis and underlying objectives, with an emphasis placed on inhibiting the Shh pathway via SUFU.

1.1 Skeletal muscle

Muscle is a soft tissue consisting of multiple fibers of cells bundled together in a protective tissue with the unique ability to contract using specialized proteins⁹. There are three types of muscles in vertebrates, each of which is specific regarding their function and location in the body. This list includes skeletal, smooth, cardiac muscle, the latter which contracts involuntarily through the autonomous nervous system¹⁰. Cardiac muscle is also striated, meaning its muscle fibers show visibly repeating bands like skeletal muscle. These bands indicate the presence of sarcomeres, the smallest functional unit of muscle tissue which consists of highly organized bundles of cells that can contract in unison¹¹. Cardiac muscle constitutes the walls of the heart and via contraction, circulates blood throughout the body¹². Smooth muscle also contracts involuntarily but is considered non-striated due to individual muscle cells failing to perfectly align themselves to form sarcomeres¹³. Smooth muscle cells are found in the walls of many internal organs including the stomach, intestines, and bladder. As such, contractions in these organs are responsible for many bodily functions including moving food and waste¹⁴. Of particular interest for my research is skeletal muscle, which is both striated and uniquely voluntary in its contraction abilities due to the somatic nervous system. Skeletal muscle is attached to bones by tendons and is responsible for the movement of the entire body⁹.

1.1.1 Skeletal muscle structure

Skeletal muscle is surrounded by dense irregular connective tissue or epimysium, which helps to protect cells from friction forces against other muscle and bones. Within the outer layer of epimysia exist groups of myofibers arranged in bundles called fascicles. Each fascicle is surrounded by another layer of collagenous connective tissue known as the perimysium, and the cells' membrane, or sarcolemma, envelopes each individual myofiber that makes up the myofibrils¹⁵. Desmin, a filamentous contractile protein is connected to the myofibrils and to the sarcolemma and where each myofibril is made up of myofilaments¹⁶. These myofilaments mainly consist of actin filaments and myosin protein¹⁷ and the muscle regulatory proteins, troponin and tropomyosin¹⁸ and repeat along the myofibrils forming contractile units called sarcomeres. Proteins contributing to the structural integrity of the sarcomere also include titin which binds to myosin to align the thick filament¹⁹ as well as nebulin, which binds to actin to regulate the length of the thin filament²⁰. Furthermore, α -actinin helps attach the actin myofilament to the Z disk, the lateral borders of a single sarcomere unit²¹ (Figure 1).

Within the sarcoplasm, the cytoplasm of muscle cells²², other cellular organelles exist to help aid in the contraction of myofibers. An invagination within the sarcolemma exists known as the transverse tubular (T-tubule) system consisting of a network of tubules that connect the exterior of the cell to the interior²³. This network is responsible for proper conduction of nerve action potentials towards the inside of the muscle cell²³, which it accomplishes alongside dysferlin, a protein that regulates calcium ion homeostasis²⁴. The sarcoplasmic reticulum, another organelle like the smooth endoplasmic reticulum, is responsible for the storage and release of Ca²⁺ during contraction²⁵. Within the sarcoplasmic reticulum the terminal cisternae can be found where calcium ions are stored and maintained by the protein known as the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA)²⁶. Calsequestrin is also needed to bind calcium ions in the sarcoplasmic reticulum²⁷. The energy (ATP) needed for muscle contraction is produced through a complex network of mitochondria, and in the presence of oxygen, within the muscle. These mitochondria are located close to the sarcolemma and are near oxygen delivering capillaries²⁸ (Figure 2).



Figure 1: The structure of the skeletal muscle. Skeletal muscle consists of muscle cells or myofibers arranged in bundles. Each myofiber contains rod-like organelles known as the myofibril which consists of repeating contractile units known as sarcomeres. These sarcomeres are formed through filamentous actin and myosin proteins found parallel to one another. Reprinted from "Myofibril Structure" by BioRender.com.

1.1.2 Skeletal muscle function

The force needed to generate movement in skeletal muscle occurs through excitationcontraction coupling. During the initial excitation stage, an electrical action potential arrives at the sarcolemma from nearby motor nerves. The T-tubule system conducts the action potential into the interior of the muscle cell towards a structure known as the triad²⁹. Triads consists of two terminal cisternae of the sarcoplasmic reticulum and the T-tubule²⁶. Dihydropiridine receptors (DHPRs) on the T-tubule are sensitive to voltage and when depolarized conformationally change and allow in an influx of calcium ions³⁰ that triggers the opening of ryanodine receptors (RyRs) on the sarcoplasmic reticulum³¹. As a result, Ca²⁺ is released into the sarcoplasm and binds to troponin C, a protein bound to actin in the thin filaments³² (Figure 2). The head of myosin, which also binds ATP detaches from actin, allowing myosin to bind to another actin. ATP is hydrolyzed by the myosin head and the energy of this hydrolysis primes myosin to bind another actin^{9,33}. Ca²⁺ bound to troponin C causes tropomyosin to move away from the actin binding site^{9,32}, allowing myosin molecules to firmly attach to this site and the inorganic phosphate from the ATP hydrolysis initiates a power stroke that causes a contraction in the sarcomeres. ADP is released from the myosin and the binding of ATP allows the myosin head to release from actin. This sliding of actin and myosin filaments opposite to one another generates the force needed for contraction^{9,33}. Following contraction, the tropomyosin-troponin complex covers the actin binding sites and the muscle relaxes 9,32 .



Figure 2: Skeletal muscle contraction. Skeletal muscle contraction occurs upon conduction of an action potential towards the interior of a muscle cell through the T-tubule. This results in the stimulation and opening of dihydropyridine receptors thus allowing in an influx of calcium which in turn opens the ryanodine receptors of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. This further releases calcium into the cell which alongside ATP produced by the mitochondria help cause contractions in the sarcomeres. Reprinted from "Cardiomyocyte Energetics" by BioRender.com.

1.2 Skeletal muscle development

1.2.1 Myogenesis in vivo

Skeletal muscle development in mouse begins during the gastrulation stage of embryonic development after the appearance of the primitive streak reorganizes a single-layered cell structure known as the blastula. This restructuring creates the gastrula, a multilayered cell structure containing all three germ layers which includes the ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm³⁴. Within the primitive streak, a tissue known as the paraxial mesoderm develops at the posterior end of the embryo which bilaterally flanks both the notochord and neural tube. The paraxial mesoderm contains the presomitic mesoderm, a tissue that can be further divided into two parts including a posterior and anterior region³⁵. The posterior presomitic mesoderm is unsegmented, whereas the anterior end gives rise to the somites. Somites serve as the origin point for myogenesis, where premyogenic progenitor cells proliferate and differentiate to eventually form multinucleated myofibers^{35,36}.

The formation of the primitive streak during gastrulation is dependent on the signalling factors Nodal and BMP4^{35,37}. Within this region multiple types of progenitor cells exist with varying abilities regarding what tissues they can specify. One type of progenitor cell can give rise solely to the paraxial mesoderm³⁸, whereas another neuromesodermal progenitor can give rise to both the paraxial mesoderm and neural tube³⁹. A third type of progenitor can differentiate into both the paraxial mesoderm and notochord⁴⁰, while a fourth type can differentiate into the paraxial mesoderm and lateral plate derivatives⁴¹.

For specification of the paraxial mesoderm to occur, progenitor cells must receive signals from both Wnt⁴² and Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF)⁴³ ligands, signalling in respective pathways for cells to enter the posterior presomitic mesoderm. During differentiation, Wnt and FGF signalling increase the activity of transcription factors T⁴⁴, Tbx6⁴⁵, and Msgn1⁴⁶, all of which are needed in the patterning of the paraxial mesoderm. Furthermore, Wnt/FGF signalling is integral in regulating axis elongation in the developing embryo, as downregulation in signalling for both pathways occurs in the tail bud thus arresting further development of the paraxial mesoderm⁴⁷. A regulatory loop exists between both Wnt and FGF signalling in which both pathways must activate each other to properly develop the paraxial mesoderm^{48,49}. Wnt signalling is activated by Fgf4 and Fgf8 in the presomitic mesoderm⁴⁸, while Fgf8 expression requires Wnt3a signalling⁴⁹. Whereas both Wnt and FGF signalling are important to the anterior-posterior patterning of the mesoderm in the primitive streak, BMP signalling is needed for patterning along the mediolateral axis⁵⁰. The posterior primitive streak secretes BMP4⁵¹, while the axial structures of the embryo produce noggin, an antagonist of BMP signalling⁵². This antagonism creates a gradient in BMP signalling across the mediolateral axis where varying levels of BMP result in the formation of different mesodermal tissue including the notochord and lateral plate mesoderm⁵³. The development of the paraxial mesoderm requires the suppression of BMP signalling and this is located where the gradient is at its weakest⁵⁴.

Development of the somites occurs through the segmentation clock, a process involving the oscillation of a multitude of different signalling pathways that help to periodically form individual segments of somites⁵⁵. Segmentation occurs in the paraxial mesoderm, which can be divided into four regions. From the posterior to anterior end of the embryo, these regions consist of the tail bud, the posterior presomitic mesoderm, the anterior presomitic mesoderm, and the eventual developing somite⁵⁶. A gradient of Wnt and FGF signalling occurs across these regions with the strongest signal found at the posterior end of the embryo and a steady decrease occurring in the anterior direction^{49,57}. At the somitic region, retinoic acid is produced and acts as an antagonist to Wnt/FGF signalling⁵⁸. The gradient that develops acts as a threshold in which high amounts of Wnt/FGF signalling help to maintain the paraxial mesoderm, whereas suppression of the pathways allows progenitor cells to form somites. These progenitors are initially found in the tail bud region where Wnt/FGF signalling is at its highest^{49,57} and the enzyme Cyp26 helps to degrade and counteract retinoic acid⁵⁸. Upon reaching the posterior presomitic mesoderm, progenitors can enter the segmentation clock where the genes, including $Mesp2^{59}$, $Pax3^{60}$, $Foxc1/2^{61}$, and $Meox 1/2^{62}$, responsible for segmentation are expressed. Finally, in the anterior presomitic region, development of the somites begin because the suppression of Wnt/FGF signalling is at its greatest due to the high levels of retinoic acid⁵⁸.

Originally mesenchymal and mobile in nature⁶³, the progenitor cells become epithelial upon reaching the anterior presomitic mesoderm⁶⁴. Here, these cells form a dorsal and ventral epithelial layer surrounding a mesenchymal core⁶⁵. This process is caused by the activation of TcF15⁶⁶, a transcription factor induced by the receptor Frizzed 7 and the ligand Wnt6 in the dorsal ectoderm⁶⁷. At the most anterior point of the presomitic mesoderm, a boundary soon develops between Mesp2 expressing and non-expressing cells resulting in the formation of a block of mesodermal tissue⁶⁸. This newly formed block is further remodelled by Eph-ephrins⁶⁹, cadherins⁷⁰, Cdc42⁷¹, and Rac1⁷¹ with Notch signalling needed to pattern both the anterior and posterior ends of the newly formed somite⁶⁸. These somites are later sectioned into two parts, with one forming the dorsal epithelial dermomyotome that is responsible for giving rise to skeletal muscle, brown fat, and the dermis of the back⁷². The second region is the ventral mesenchymal sclerotome, which is responsible for the axial skeleton and tendons⁷² (Figure 3). This lineage specification is dependent on the signalling received from surrounding tissue where for the dermomyotome, inhibition of BMP signalling and increased Wnt signalling from the neural tube and dorsal ectoderm⁷³ leads to the upregulation of $Pax7^{74}$, $Pax3^{74}$, and $Myf5^{75}$. Conversely, the sclerotome specification requires Shh signalling from the notochord and floor plate⁷⁶.

The dorsal epithelial dermomyotome is further segmented into multiple regions including a central domain, dorsomedial lip, anterior lip, posterior lip, and a ventrolateral lip⁷⁷. Myogenesis begins within the dorsomedial lip, when progenitor cells begin to express $Myf5^{78}$ while the protein downregulates $Pax3^{79}$. This signalling leads to the formation of the primary myotome, a cell layer found between the dermomyotome and sclerotome⁸⁰ (Figure 3). Progenitors in the myotome differentiate into mononucleated myocytes, the initial skeletal muscle cells of the embryo⁸¹ but later, Wnt11 signalling cause these myocytes to elongate across the somite along the anterior-posterior axis⁸². As more progenitors and eventually differentiated myocytes are added to the myotome, myofibers form through the fusion of multiple myocytes⁸³. This fusion creates multinucleated myotubes that express the cytoskeleton proteins needed for contraction such as slow type 1 myosin heavy chains (MyHC)⁸³, α -actin⁸⁴, and desmin⁸¹. The process repeats with every sequential somite added throughout the development and elongation of the embryo⁸⁵. Limb muscles are formed later by cells in the lateral dermomyotome⁸⁶ and through the activation of transcription factors Pax3⁸⁷, Myf5⁸⁸, MyoD⁸⁸, MRF4⁸⁹, and Myogenin⁸⁹. Activation of these factors help reorganize the myocytes into myofibers after they migrate into the developing limb buds. Myogenin is especially important for the differentiation of myoblasts into myocytes⁹⁰.

Signalling for myogenesis is induced by the tissues surrounding the somites such as the neural tube and lateral plate mesoderm⁹¹. In the case of the neural tube, neural crest cells migrate to the somite to help express Myf5 within progenitors in the dermomyotome⁹². These neural crest cells express delta like-1 (Dll1) and activate Notch signalling which inhibits GSK3ß thus allowing for the stabilization of Snail. This leads to the delamination and migration of the progenitors into the primary myotome⁹³. The lateral plate mesoderm also supports myogenesis by secreting the signalling molecule hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) needed for the proper migration of myoblasts⁹⁴.

Thus, myogenesis initially begins early in embryonic development, serving as building block which adult muscle will later be built upon during the secondary stage of myogenesis⁹⁵. This secondary stage takes place during fetal development and involves *Pax3* expressing progenitors upregulating *Pax7* while downregulating *Pax3*⁹⁶. This signalling allows cells to fuse and form secondary myofibers defined by their expression of fast type 2 MyHC isoforms⁹⁷. The addition of more myonuclei to the newly formed secondary myotome is what sustains this secondary stage of myogenesis⁹⁸.



Created in BioRender.com bio

Figure 3: Formation of the somite and primary myotome during embryonic development. (A) Spatial relationship of the newly formed somite against the other structures of the embryo. (B) The somite eventually develops into separate regions including a dorsal dermomyotome and ventral sclerotome with a primary myotome later forming in between where myogenesis takes place. Created with BioRender.com

1.2.2 Skeletal muscle regeneration

Adult skeletal muscles can repair damaged tissue via satellite cells found sequestered in their own microenvironment between the sarcolemma and basal lamina of myofibers⁹⁹. These adult stem cells are derived from the *Pax3/Pax7* expressing embryonic progenitor cells needed during postnatal muscle development¹⁰⁰. To prevent migration during the absence of muscle injury, the cytoskeleton of satellite cells is bound to the basal lamina¹⁰¹ through actin-integrin-a7 and actin-integrin-b1¹⁰². Satellite cells are considered to be quiescent or in the hibernating state where they lie dormant until activated^{101,102}. Quiescence in satellite cells require Wnt¹⁰³ and Notch¹⁰⁴ signalling, which result in the expression of *Pax7* and suppression of *MyoD1* and *Myog*¹⁰³. Furthermore, cell cycle inhibitors such as p21, p27¹⁰⁵, and DACH1¹⁰⁶ are expressed in quiescent satellite cells whereas myogenic regulatory factors including MYOG are absent¹⁰³.

During muscle injury, quiescent satellite cells are activated and migrate, proliferate, and differentiate into myofibers in order to replace damaged tissue. Upon activation, these cells upregulate PAX7 as well as myogenic regulatory factors such as MYOD1, MYOG, and MYF5, which help to initiate proliferation¹⁰⁷. Differentiation into myocytes later occurs after downregulation of MYF5 and MYOD1¹⁰⁸, alongside consistent expression of MYOG, MEF2C, and MRF4¹⁰⁷. Migration towards the site of injury is driven by chemoattractants secreted from inflammatory cells¹⁰⁹, including growth factors¹¹⁰, damaged-associated molecular pattern molecules¹¹¹, and cytokines¹¹². The latter has been linked to the activation of the JAK-STAT pathway, which promotes both satellite cell proliferation and differentiation¹¹³. During regeneration, a portion of activated satellite cells must return to the quiescent stage to maintain a pool of stem cells for future use¹¹⁴.

1.3 Skeletal muscle development on a cellular level

1.3.1 Myogenesis in vitro

Many different methodologies have been implemented that recapitulate *in vivo* myogenesis within *in vitro* studies. One such method utilized mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs),

which were differentiated into embryoid bodies (EBs)¹¹⁵. EBs are three-dimensional cell aggregates with the ability to give rise to cell types of all three germ layers¹¹⁶. Upon formation, EBs were tested for MRF expression along with the presence of myocytes¹¹⁵. However, EBs are heterogenous in regard to their cell lineage differentiation, with no simple way of controlling specification. To circumvent this issue new methods have been developed that focus on pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), which form homogenous cell monolayers that differentiate through multiple cell stages using specific signalling molecules¹¹⁷.

The initial stage of muscle cell differentiation that occurs during *in vivo* development is that of the paraxial mesoderm precursor cells which help form the primitive streak. These cells are defined by their expression of the early mesodermal marker *Brachyury* and their ability to give rise to multiple different mesodermal subpopulations¹¹⁸. *In vitro* studies have shown that when treated with activin, PSCs differentiate into anterior primitive streak derivatives which serve as precursors to endodermal tissue¹¹⁹. Conversely, treatment with BMP leads to posterior primitive streak derivatives that are precursors to the lateral plate and extraembryonic mesoderm¹²⁰. The mesodermal cells in these tissues serve as hematopoietic¹²¹ and cardiogenic¹²² progenitors. However, generation of the mesodermal progenitors in the primitive streak responsible for the paraxial mesoderm requires sequential activation of BMP¹²³ and Wnt¹²⁴ signalling (Figure 4).

Production of paraxial mesoderm progenitor cells from PSCs requires activation of both Wnt¹²⁵ and FGF¹²⁶ signalling. These cells are defined by their expression of mesodermal markers *Msgn1* and *Tbx6*¹²⁵. To generate cells with a posterior presomitic mesoderm fate, PSCs must initially be treated with BMP4 for differentiation into epiblast-like cells¹²⁷. This is followed by activation of Wnt/FGF signalling, as well as inhibition of BMP signalling, to prevent the specification of lateral plate mesodermal cells (**Figure 4**). The resulting cells express genes relating to the segmentation of somites such as *Hes7*⁵⁶. During *in vivo* development of somites, *Msgn1* is downregulated at the determination front while segmentation genes *Mesp2*, *Ripply1*, and *Ripply2* are expressed along with the activation of Pax3 protein. These genetic and protein markers can be seen *in vitro* when cultured cells

maintain Wnt/FGF activation and BMP inhibition, and is indicative anterior of presomitic mesodermal cells⁵⁶.

The final stage of muscle cell differentiation *in vivo* occurs when myoblasts fuse to form myocytes; an obligatory predecessor of myofibers⁸¹. Myoblasts are derived from *Pax3*-expressing precursor cells in the dermomyotome, and to induce these cells *in vitro*, mESCs must again be maintained in conditions promoting Wnt signalling while inhibiting BMP⁵⁶. The cells themselves produce their own retinoic acid (RA) through upregulation of the enzyme *Aldh1a2* and this promotes presomitic mesoderm differentiation¹²⁸. Further treatment with HGH, IGF, and FGF leads to differentiation of cells into elongated mononucleated myocytes expressing myogenin¹²⁹ (Figure 4). The increase in myocytes correlates with the replacement of *Pax3* expressing myogenic progenitors with those expressing *Pax7*^{87,130}.

Along with directed differentiation, other methods for *in vitro* cell differentiation include directed reprogramming, which involves the overexpression of certain transcription factors that cause cells to enter the myogenic lineage¹¹⁷. For instance, fibroblasts treated with 5-azacytidine, a demethylating agent that targets *MyoD*, leads to the reprogramming of these cells into myoblasts¹³¹. Furthermore, overexpressing *MyoD* in PSCs forces differentiation into a muscle specific lineage, skipping over early developmental stages, and results in the formation of myotubes after 10 days¹³². Myogenic differentiation can also be induced in PSCs through overexpression of *Pax3* and *Pax7*¹³³ (Figure 4). In this instance, Pax3 upregulates the *Tcf15* and *Meox1* transcription factors and prevents differentiating cells from undergoing a cardiac specific lineage¹³⁴. Direct reprogramming of PSCs can also be induced through MRFs, IGF2, HGF, and Mesp1. Mesp1, specifically permits the formation of progenitors with the ability to form either cardiac or cranial mesodermal cells¹³⁵.



Figure 4: Muscle cell differentiation *in vitro*. Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) can be differentiated into myocytes through a number of different techniques. These include directed differentiation requiring the sequential activation of numerous signalling pathways as well as direct reprogramming requiring the simple exogenous addition of certain myogenic factors. Each cell stage can be identified through numerous genetic markers. Created with BioRender.com.

1.3.2 C2C12 cells as a model for myogenesis

Embryonic Stem Cells (ESCs) and Pluripotent Stem Cells (PSCs) are integral in studying skeletal muscle development *in vitro* beginning at gastrulation stages, but multipotent stem cells (MSCs) offer a more efficient and direct way of studying differentiation at late stages⁴. MSCs allow for better targeted differentiation as they are already committed to a specific lineage with limited differentiation potential. Furthermore, MSCs having a more defined and linear differentiation pathway require less complex culture conditions⁴. Most commonly, myoblasts are the MSC of choice and multiple myoblastic cell lines exist including those from human (HSMM cells)¹³⁶, rat (L6 cells)¹³⁷ and mouse (C2C12 cells)¹³⁷.

Of interest to this research is C2C12 cells, an immortalized myoblast line developed by David Yaffe and Ora Saxel at the Weizmann Institute of Science in 1977. C2C12 cells were obtained through serial passage that stemmed from the thigh muscle of female C3H mice¹³⁸. These cells are used extensively as a model of myogenesis in part due to their high division rate and high fusion rate into myotubules. During proliferation, C2C12 cells are mononucleated and have a radial branching morphology consisting of long fibers that extend in many directions. However, once differentiation begins, myoblasts elongate and form myocytes, which fuse to form multinucleated myotubule cells¹³⁹. Differentiation occurs within 7 days and simply requires the exchange of high serum media (10%) to low serum media (1%), which starves the cells and allows them to exit the cell cycle and initiate differentiation¹³⁹. This ease of handling and the relative timeline for muscle differentiation is why C2C12 MSCs have been selected for the purposes of this research related to cell signalling.

1.4 Cellular signalling pathways in muscle development

Proper muscle development requires the activation and deactivation of numerous different cellular signalling pathways. As of date 5 pathways in particular have been studied in depth regarding their roles in myogenesis. These include the Wnt and Fgf pathways of which signalling is required for the differentiation of muscle cell progenitors. This is in contrast to Bmp and Notch signalling which largely must be deactivated for successful differentiation to occur. The following section will detail the roles each of these pathways play in myogenesis and end with a in depth look at the Shh pathway.

1.4.1 Wnts

The canonical Wnt signalling pathway plays an important role in the formation of numerous tissues during embryonic development as well as in adult tissue homeostasis. It is mainly known for its importance in defining the dorsoventral and anteroposterior body axes as well as its part in the formation of the nervous system¹⁴⁰. In the absence of the Wnt ligand, a multi-protein complex consisting of CK1¹⁴¹, GSK3B¹⁴¹, Axin¹⁴², and APC¹⁴³ hyperphosphorylates β -catenin thus causing its degradation by the proteasome and preventing gene transcription¹⁴⁴. Conversely, the Wnt ligand when present binds to the correceptors LRP5/6 and Frizzled (Fzd)¹⁴⁵, causing Disheveled to translocate to the plasma membrane which leads to the recruitment of Axin¹⁴⁶. As a result, this multi-protein destruction complex does not phosphorylate β -catenin, and the latter enters the nucleus where it interacts with the TCF/LEF transcription factor to upregulate Wnt responsive transcription targets¹⁴⁷ (Figure 5).

In the paraxial mesoderm several Wnt family members are required for the expression of many MRFs. *Wnt1* is expressed in the epaxial domain of the somite¹⁴⁸ and induces activation of $Myf5^{149}$, while Wnt7a/Wnt6 are expressed in the dorsal ectoderm¹⁵⁰ and assist in the expression of $MyoD^{149}$. Fzd7 is on the plasma membrane of the hypaxial region of the somite, where it is believed to interact with Wnt7a. Other receptors including Fzd1 and Fzd6 are expressed in the epaxial somite, suggesting other possible roles in aiding Myf5 expression in the region¹⁵¹. Wnt1, Wnt3a, Wnt4, and Wnt6 signalling from the surface ectoderm and neural tube maintain the levels of Pax3 and Pax7 in premyogenic cells within the somite¹⁵², while the number of these cells is determined by transcription factors Lef1 and Pitx2¹⁵³. Whereas in the developing dermomyotome, the absence of Wnt1 and Wnt3a leads to loss of the medial domain due to reduced expression of Myf5¹⁵⁴. Wnt6 from the dorsal ectoderm is also required for the dermomyotome including the epithelial organization of cells in the somite⁶⁷. Interestingly, β -catenin is required in the somite for the proper development of the dermomyotome and myotome and is necessary for the

resulting number of myofibers in the limb¹⁵⁵. The elongation of such myofibers in the myotome requires Wnt1 and Wnt3a¹⁵⁴ signalling in the dorsal neural tube to induce Wnt11 activation within the epaxial dermomyotome⁸².



Figure 5: The Wnt signalling pathway. In the absence of the Wnt ligand, β -catenin is hyperphosphorylated by a multi protein complex consisting of CK1, GSK3B, Axin, and APC leading to its degradation by the proteasome. In the presence of the Wnt ligand which binds to co-receptors LRP5/6 and Fzd, Dishevelled recruits Axin leading to the destruction of the multi-protein complex. This allows β -catenin to translocate into the nucleus and bind TCF/LEF leading to the upregulation of Wnt responsive genes. Reprinted from "Wnt Signalling Pathway Activation and Inhibition" by BioRender.com.

1.4.2 Bone morphogenetic proteins

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) are key regulators in the development of numerous tissues originally discovered by their ability to induce the formation of bone and cartilage¹⁵⁶. BMP ligands belong to the Transforming growth Factor-beta (TGF-B) superfamily¹⁵⁷ and initiate signalling by binding to their respective serine/threonine kinase receptors including BMPR-1 and BMPR-2¹⁵⁸. Upon ligand binding, BMPR-2 is activated and phosphorylates BMPR-1, which in turn phosphorylates the intracellular SMAD proteins SMAD1¹⁵⁹, SMAD5¹⁶⁰, and SMAD8¹⁶¹. These SMADs form a complex along with SMAD4 and translocate into the nucleus to upregulate BMP-responsive genes¹⁶² (**Figure 6**). Inhibitors of the pathway include Smad6 which blocks binding between Smad4 and Smad1¹⁶³ as well as noggin by binding Bmp4 and preventing it from binding its receptors¹⁶⁴.

Evidence from myoblast cell lines have shown BMPs act in an inhibitory role regarding differentiation. For instance, exogenous BMP ligand, when added to C2C12 cells, blocks myotube formation because genes related to myogenic differentiation such as *Myog* are not expressed. Instead, these cells experience trans-differentiation and are destined to form an osteogenic (bone) fate^{165,166}. Conversely, myotube differentiation was successful in the presence of BMP inhibitors¹⁶⁷. Parallels are seen during embryonic development with BMP signalling playing an inhibitory role regarding myogenic differentiation where the addition of the exogenous BMP ligand¹⁶⁸ or expression of Smad1¹⁶⁹ in mesodermal tissue in multiple organisms affected muscle determination. Conversely, when a bead containing noggin is grafted into the posterior primitive streak, cells that would otherwise give rise to the lateral plate were instead converted into a paraxial mesoderm fate and developed into somite's¹⁶⁴. Such cases were seen in *Xenopus*¹⁷⁰ and chick embryos¹⁷¹ where the addition of BMP inhibitors caused the increase of myogenic genes including *Myod* and *muscle actin*.


Figure 6: The Bone morphogenetic signalling pathway. Upon binding of the BMP ligand to the BMPR1/2 receptors, BMPR2 phosphorylates BMPR1 which then phosphorylates SMAD1/5/8 which go on to form a complex with SMAD4. This complex then translocates into the nucleus and upregulates BMP responsive genes. Reprinted from "BMP Signalling Pathway" by BioRender.com.

1.4.3 Fibroblast growth factors

Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) govern many fundamental cellular processes including proliferation, migration, cell survival, and differentiation. Specifically in regards to development, FGFs are known to regulate anterior-posterior patterning as well as limb and neural development¹⁷². Signalling begins when the FGF ligand binds to a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) leading to its autophosphorylation¹⁷³ and activation of either the MAPK or AKT pathways¹⁷⁴. In the MAPK pathway, an inactive GDP-bound Ras is converted into an active GTP-bound Ras by GRB2 and son of sevenless (SOS), leading to the activation of Raf¹⁷⁵. This active Raf phosphorylates MEK and the cascade continues with the phosphorylation and activation of ERK1/2, which can phosphorylate a multitude of substrates. These substates include transcription factors, which upregulate other genes linked to proliferation^{174,175}. Binding and activation of an RTK also sets in motion of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway, leading to the pro-survival of cells receiving the signal¹⁷⁴. In this pathway, PI3K converts phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate to phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5- triphosphate and results in the recruitment and phosphorylation of AKT^{174,175}. Active AKT inhibits TSC proteins, leading to the activation of the mTORC1 complex which inhibits expression of genes related to autophagy, glucose metabolism, and the regulation of cell cycle proteins¹⁷⁶ (Figure 7). Though these are only snippets of the actual activation leading to these results, there are many other proteins involved, as is the crosstalk of the signalling pathways leading to their activation.

FGF and Wnt signalling share concomitant roles during muscle development particularly regarding the formation of the paraxial mesoderm. As previously mentioned in section 1.2.1, Wnt/FGF are needed for the expression of transcription factors T^{44} , $Tbxb^{45}$, and $Msgn1^{46}$, all of which are needed for proper patterning of the paraxial mesoderm. Mice with mutations in Msgn1 fail to develop the posterior presomitic mesoderm and as a result develop a large undifferentiated tail bud¹⁷⁷. Furthermore, in the absence of either FGF⁴⁸ or Wnt⁴⁴ ligands, ectopic neural tissue forms and leads to a truncated mouse embryo. Thus, Wnt/FGF are needed for the specification of neuromesodermal progenitor cells towards a mesodermal fate as opposed to a neural one¹⁷⁸. Late in embryonic development and during myogenesis, however, both pathways serve a more antagonistic role. Wnt functions to

promote myoblast fusion and differentiation¹⁷⁹ whereas FGF promotes myoblast proliferation and inhibits differentiation¹⁸⁰. Although, during adult muscle regeneration, satellite cell activation requires signalling from both Wnt and FGF alongside IGF and ^{HGF179,181}. Interestingly, FGF shares another antagonistic role with BMP during the patterning of the paraxial mesoderm. This is evident in mouse embryos where the loss of BMP signalling showcased an expanded paraxial mesoderm, which is rescued and returned to normal by inhibiting FGF signalling¹⁸⁰.



Figure 7: The Fibroblast growth factor signalling pathway. The FGF ligand binds to the RTK receptor resulting in its autophosphorylation and conversion of inactive GDP bound Ras into active GTP bound Ras by GRB2 and SOS. This results in the activation of either the MAPK or AKT pathways. In the MAPK pathway, Ras activates Raf which phosphorylates MEK. This results in the activation of ERK which helps to upregulate genes involved in proliferation. In the AKT pathway PI3K recruits and phosphorylates AKT which in turn activates the mTORC1 complex. This leads to the inhibition of genes related to autophagy. Adapted from "KRAS Signalling Pathways" by BioRender.com.

1.4.4 Notch

The Notch signalling pathway plays an important role in the formation, growth, and development of the embryo. Specifically, it is known to help regulate such processes such as neurogenesis and angiogenesis¹⁸². Initiation of the pathway occurs through a juxtracrine mechanism whereby the Notch receptor found on the membrane of one cell binds to the Delta ligand found on the membrane of an adjacent cell. This causes the activation of ADAM10 and γ -secretase proteases which leads to the cleaving and release of intracellular domain of Notch (NICD)¹⁸³. NICD then translocates into the nucleus where it interacts with transcriptional factors and co-transcriptional regulators such as CBF1, recombination signal binding protein J κ , and Mastermind. This all results in the upregulation of Notch responsive target genes^{183,184} (Figure 8).

The Notch signalling pathway plays a critical role during skeletal muscle development as an inhibitor to muscle cell differentiation¹⁸⁵. This can be seen in vitro through studies utilizing myoblast cell cultures in which forced activation of Notch signalling prevented differentiation into myotubes¹⁸⁶. The same is true *in vivo* as determined by experiments dealing with muscle explants where asymmetric expression of Numb, an inhibitor of Notch, in proliferating myogenic progenitors was found¹⁸⁷. Daughter cells expressing Numb were also found to express genes such as *Myf5* and *Desmin* which are needed for further progression in myogenic differentiation. No expression was found for markers such as *Pax3* which signify earlier pre-myoblast cell stages. Conversely, daughter cells without expression for Numb showed the opposite genetic profile¹⁸⁷. Interestingly, Notch signalling is found to be activated after injury in post-natal muscle as seen by an increase in cleaved Notch1 induced by Dll1 activation¹⁸⁸. Further studies with myoblast cell cultures showed that artificially activating Notch signalling led to an increase in proliferation while inhibition of Notch signalling led to a decrease in proliferation. These findings suggest that upon muscle injury Notch signalling is required for satellite cell proliferation while inhibition of the pathway is needed for eventual differentiation to take place¹⁸⁹. Notch signalling also plays a role in distinguishing muscle stem cells from committed progenitors. Muscle stem cells are defined by their expression of Pax7 and a lack of Myf5, whereas committed progenitors express both. Notch3 was found to be expressed highly in stem cells

while Dll1 was primarily expressed in progenitors suggesting that Notch signalling is needed to maintain proliferation in stem cells while its inhibition is required for further differentiation down the muscle cell lineage¹⁹⁰. As previously mentioned in section 1.2.1, Notch signalling is also needed during somitogenesis where it specifies the borders of somites by imposing an anterior-posterior polarity⁶⁸. This was first identified in mice embryos harbouring a mutated Dll1 that showcased dramatic muscle hypertrophy as caused by premature muscle differentiation and a limited Pax3/Pax7 expressing progenitor pool. As such, it is argued that Notch signalling prevents premature differentiation and helps to maintain a steady pool of progenitors¹⁹¹.



Figure 8: The Notch signalling pathway. Initiation of the pathway begins when the Notch receptor of one cell binds to the Delta ligand of an adjacent cell. This causes the activation of ADAM 10 and γ -secretase which cleave and release NICD. NICD translocates into the nucleus where it interacts with transcriptional factors and co-transcriptional factors to upregulate Notch responsive genes. Reprinted from "Notch Signalling Pathway" by BioRender.com.

1.4.5 Sonic hedgehog

The hedgehog (Hh) signalling pathway is known for transmitting information required for proper differentiation to embryonic cells during development¹⁹². Three different ligands exist in the pathway consisting of Desert Hedgehog (DHH), Indian Hedgehog (IHH), and Sonic Hedgehog (SHH). DHH is mainly known for its role in male germline development¹⁹³ whereas IHH regulates both bone development¹⁹⁴ and hematopoiesis¹⁹⁵. Of interest to this research is the SHH ligand which has been heavily studied in neural development^{196,197} and as of late myogenesis⁷. In the absence of the SHH ligand, the transmembrane receptor Patched (PTCH) inhibits the translocation of Smoothened (SMO) into the primary cilium^{198,199} resulting in Suppressor of Fused (SUFU) isolating GLI and promoting its phosphorylation by Protein Kinase A (PKA), Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β (GSK3 β), and Casein Kinase 1 (CK1)⁸. GLI is then further ubiquitinated and as such is partially degraded by the proteasome into a form that lacks a transactivation domain while still retaining a repressor domain. As a result, the partially degraded GLI is able to translocate into the nucleus and act as a transcriptional repressor of Shh target genes²⁰⁰. Conversely, when the SHH ligand is present, it binds and inhibits PTCH thus allowing SMO to translocate into the primary cilium²⁰¹ leading to the dissociation of SUFU from GLI²⁰². This allows the full length GLI to translocate into the nucleus and upregulate Shh responsive genes such as paralogues *Ptch1* and *Ptch2* which act as negative feedback for the pathway²⁰³ (Figure 9). Three GLI proteins exist including GLI1, GLI2, and GLI3. While both GLI2 and GLI3 can act as a transcriptional activator or repressor, the former is primarily an activator while the latter is a repressor²⁰⁴. Unlike GLI2 and GLI3, GLI1 does not contain a N-terminal repressor domain and thus can only act as a transcriptional activator²⁰⁵.

Suppressor of Fused (SUFU), the protein of interest regarding this research, is the main inhibitor of the Shh signalling pathway. It operates by either sequestering and preventing the nuclear translocation of GLI proteins or promoting their proteasomal degradation into a transcriptional repressor of target genes⁸. In the presence of the Shh ligand, SUFU is disassociated from GLI after translocation from the primary cilium²⁰². This action is caused by a complex consisting of SMO and EVC/EVC2 proteins which recruit KIF7, a

microtubule protein, into the primary cilium²⁰⁶. Intraflagellar transport proteins (IFTs) have also been identified as being involved in the dissociation of SUFU from GLI, specifically that of GLI3²⁰². Furthermore, SUFU is highly regulated by multiple kinases such as with PKA and GSK3β which phosphorylate SUFU to stabilize the protein²⁰⁷. Conversely, SUFU is dephosphorylated by protein phosphatase in response to Hh signalling activation²⁰⁸. Post translational modifications have also been noted to help regulate the function of SUFU. Ubiquitination of SUFU on Lys63 leads to the binding and conversion of GLI3 into a transcriptional repressor²⁰⁹. SUFU has also been found to further repress gene expression by interacting with SAP18 and binding to DNA-bound Gli3²¹⁰.

During early embryonic development, somitogenesis is induced by Shh signalling from the notochord and Wnt signalling stemming from the dorsal neural tube through Wnt1, Wnt3a, and Wnt4²¹¹. Shh signalling from the notochord and floor plate is also needed to specify the sclerotome through downregulation of Pax3 and upregulation of both Pax1 and $Nkx3.2^{76}$. Although recent studies have found that the pathway can also stimulate the formation of myotomal cells²¹². Experiments utilizing mice containing a knockout in either the Shh^{213} or Smo^{214} gene show as such with disrupted formation of the sclerotome and decreased expression of Myf5 in the myotome. Furthermore, inhibition of Shh signalling in zebrafish resulted in an increase of Pax3/Pax7 expressing cells in the somite but with a lack of further differentiation²¹⁵. Conversely, ectopic expression of *Shh* in chicken embryos increased the expression of *Pax1*, a sclerotomal marker, while decreasing expression of *Pax3* in cells of the dermomyotome²¹⁶. These studies suggest a role for the pathway in forming the Myf5 expressing cells of the dermomyotome that have since downregulated their expression of *Pax3/Pax7*²¹⁷. Further evidence of this is existence of a GLI binding site in the *Mvf5* gene suggesting a possible way for activation by Shh signalling¹⁴⁸. Interestingly, both Shh and Wnt seemingly have an antagonistic relationship with BMP. BMP4 signalling in the lateral plate mesoderm is needed to maintain a population of undifferentiated muscle progenitors through expression of Pax3 and inhibition of Myf5 and *MyoD* upregulation²¹⁸. BMP signalling is however decreased by Wnt and Shh signalling in the dermomyotome through increase levels of Noggin¹⁷¹. This leads to the upregulation of *Mvod* and myotome formation $52\ 220$.

The Shh signalling pathway has also been implicated in myogenesis, the late and final stage of muscle development. A study utilizing C2C12 cells found that treatment with exogenous SHH ligand led to a decrease in differentiation and the generation of myotubes. Conversely, when treated with cyclopamine, an inhibitor of the pathway, differentiation was rescued and myotube formation increased⁷. A proliferation assay was also conducted with the cells under the same treatments. C2C12 cells treated with SHH showed increase levels of cell growth while those treated with cyclopamine showed decreased growth⁷. This indicates that Shh signalling is needed for myoblast proliferation while its inhibition is required for differentiation into muscle cells to take place. Further evidence of this can be seen in developmental muscle diseases involving the pathway. A study utilizing mdx mice, murine model organisms showcasing muscle dystrophy, found that Shh signalling was inhibited in these mice. Forced overexpression of Shh signalling lead to both an increase in myogenic cells and later the development of myofibers²¹⁹. Less still is understood about SUFU and its role in muscle development with very limited research existing on the topic. One study posits a link between the protein and rhabdomyosarcoma, a cancer in skeletal muscle caused by constant proliferation of non-differentiating progenitor cells. Analysis of rhabdomyomas, benign tumors of muscle tissue, show high expression of Shh responsive genes such as *Gli1* and *Ptch1* whereas levels of SUFU are markedly decreased²²⁰. This suggests a possible role for SUFU as a regulator of Shh mediated myogenesis.



Figure 9: The Sonic hedgehog signalling pathway. In the absence of the SHH ligand, PTCH inhibits SMO. This leads to SUFU promoting the phosphorylation and degradation into a transcriptional repressor of GLI by CK1, PKA, and GSK3 β . In the presence of SHH which binds PTCH, SMO is released from its inhibition which allows GLI to disassociate from SUFU in the primary cilium. GLI then translocates into the nucleus where it acts as a transcriptional activator of Shh responsive genes. Adapted from "Hedgehog Signalling Pathway" by BioRender.com.

1.5 Investigating the role of SUFU in myogenesis using cellular and molecular tools

Much research has been done on myogenesis and further uncovering the biochemical pathways involved. Still however, less is known about the Shh pathway and the intricacies of its relationship with muscle cell differentiation. Currently, it is known that the pathway must be deactivated for the successful formation of myotubules to occur. As such, the protein SUFU, an inhibitor of the pathway, is of much interest regarding its potential functional role during differentiation. With this research, I aimed to uncover the possible presence of SUFU during myogenesis and explore the effect its absence has on the process.

Given their ease of use and quick differentiation into myotubes, C2C12 myoblast cells are a convenient cellular model for use in this study pertaining to myogenesis. Alongside this, the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system is a molecular tool that can aid in studying the functional role of *Sufu* by knocking out the gene completely and ensuring that mutant cells used in experimentation have no traces of the protein. Various other techniques are also needed to produce proteomic and genetic data for analysis Western blotting can showcase the levels of SUFU present in differentiating cells as well as display protein markers for successful differentiation. Quantitative RT-PCR can provide the expression levels of key Shh responsive genes helping to identify the activation/deactivation of the pathway during myogenesis and whether this correlates with the presence of SUFU. Thus, this research will serve to uncover how exactly the Shh pathway is deactivated during muscle cell differentiation by further expanding on the knowledge surrounding the proteins involved in the pathway.

1.6 Rationale, hypothesis, objectives

Rationale of this study:

Myogenesis is defined as the formation of skeletal muscular tissue during embryogenesis. The differentiation of stem cells into muscle cells requires the activation/deactivation of numerous different cellular signalling pathways. Of particular interest is the one involving Sonic Hedgehog (Shh), known for its importance in embryonic development. This pathway plays a key role in muscle development with its activation promoting the proliferation of myoblasts and its subsequent inactivation promoting the differentiation of myoblasts into myotubes. Despite its role in myogenesis, there is still a lack of information regarding the specifics on how the Shh pathway is regulated during differentiation. While its deactivation is needed, the specific time, the cell stage of differentiation, and the key players in this regulation have not been detailed. As such, the aim of my research is to uncover when deactivation of the Shh pathway occurs, allowing myogenesis to continue, and how SUFU, serving as an inhibitory protein in the pathway, is involved in this deactivation. In the end, I hope that this new information will help to expand our knowledge of Shh signalling, and in particular how this pathway is regulated by SUFU during muscle differentiation.

Hypothesis of this study:

If the inhibition of Shh signalling is required to complete myogenesis, then the loss of the protein SUFU, a negative regulator of the pathway, should maintain the proliferative state of cells while preventing differentiation.

Objectives of this study:

- 1. Catalogue the presence of Shh pathway players during myogenesis.
- 2. Specifically examine SUFU levels before and after induced differentiation.
- **3.** Determine if maintaining Shh signalling affects myogenesis.

4. Induce a loss of function in SUFU, then examine the effect on the Shh pathway during myogenesis.

Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell culture

C2C12 cells were grown on adherent tissue culture plates (Sarstedt) within Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, ThermoFisher Scientific) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (ThermoFisher Scientific) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (ThermoFisher Scientific). Cells were maintained at a temperature of 37°C in 5% CO₂. Media was exchanged every 2 days with cells passaged before reaching a confluency of 70%. Differentiation was induced by replacing the growth media for differentiation media (DMEM containing 2% horse serum) (ThermoFisher Scientific) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin) when the cells reached a confluency of approximately 80-90%. Differentiation over the course of 7 days was examined and media exchanged every 2 days. For experiments involving Smoothened agonist (SAG; EMD Millipore) treated cells, 200nM SAG was added into the differentiation media.

2.2 Cell microscopy

Differentiating cells were grown on coverslips coated in 0.1% gelatin. At days 0, 2, 4, and 6 of differentiation, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min. Coverslips containing cells were then mounted onto microscopic slides using Slowfade Gold antifade reagent and imaged at the Integrated Microscopy Facility (Biotron, Western University, London, ON) using an Inverted Nikon T12E Deconvolution Microscope at 20X magnification. NIS-Elements Software was used to capture images of the cells.

2.3 RT-qPCR

Total RNA was collected from cells at days 0, 2, 4, and 6 of differentiation using a QiaShredder kit (Qiagen) and RNeasy kit (Qiagen). The quality and quantity of RNA obtained was assessed using a NanoDrop 200c Spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher

Scientific). RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). The presence of amplicons was first evaluated through endpoint PCR conducted using a reaction mixture containing 500 nM of forward and reverse primers (**Table 1**), 25 μ L of DreamTaq Green PCR Master Mix (ThermoFisher Scientific), and 1 μ L of cDNA template. Samples were run using a C1000 Touch Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories) with the resulting products visualized on a 2% agarose gel (1X TAE) containing RedSafe (iNtRON Biotechnology Inc) and imaged on a ChemiDoc Touch Imaging System (Bio-Rad Laboratories). *Gapdh* was used as reference gene to normalize the amplification of target genes. The relative expression levels of Shh target genes (*Gli1* and *Ptch1*) were determined by quantitative RT-PCR using a reaction mixture containing 500 nM of forward and reverse primers (**Table 1**), 10 μ L of SensiFast SYBR No-ROX Mix (Bioline), and 1 μ L of cDNA template. Samples were run in a CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad) and the results were analyzed using the comparative Ct method (2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct). *Gapdh* was used as a loading control.

Table 1. Endpoint RT-PCR and qRT-PCR primer sequences for target genes

Gene	Forward Primer (5' to 3')	Reverse Primer (5' to 3')	Tm
Gli1	GGAAGTCCTATTCACGCCTTGA	CAACCTTCTTGCTCACACATGTAAG	55°C
Ptch1	AAAGAACTGCGGCAAGTTTTTG	CTTCTCCTATCTTCTGACGGGT	54°C
Gapdh	ATGTTTGTGATGGGTGTGAA	ATGCCAAAGTTGTCATGGAT	50°C

2.4 Immunoblotting

Protein was collected from cells at days 0-7 of differentiation by lysing them in 500 μ L of 2% sodium dodecyl sulfate buffer containing 10% glycerol, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, and 1:200 of 1X Halt Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (ThermoFisher Scientific). The protein samples were then sonicated and quantified using a DC Protein Assay (Bio-Rad). Approximately 10 μ g of protein were loaded and separated on 6-10% polyacrylamide gels for 120 V for 1.5 h. Following this, the proteins were transferred to PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) at 20 V in 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed with Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) and then placed in TBS-T containing 5% skim milk

for 1 hour. After extensive washing, the membranes were incubated with primary antibodies in TBS-T containing 5% skim milk at 4°C overnight. The primary antibodies used were SUFU (1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), MYOD (ThermoFisher Scientific), MYOG (1:1000; ThermoFisher Scientific), MHC (1:1000; ThermoFisher Scientific), and β-ACTIN (1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Following incubation, membranes were washed and then incubated with host-specific HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10,000; Sigma) in TBS-T containing 5% skim milk for 2 hours. Membranes were washed once more and then incubated in Immobilon Classico Western HRP Substrate (Millipore). A Chemi Doc Touch System (Bio-Rad) was used to image membranes and ImageLab Software (Bio-Rad) was used to perform densitometric quantification on the bands of interest.

2.5 Generation of Sufu deficient cell lines

A pSpCas9(BB)-2A-Puro (PX459) V2.0 (Addgene plasmid) with sgRNA for Sufu cloned into the vector (Table 2) was provided by Dr. D. Spice of the Kelly Laboratory. Approximately 2 µg of the plasmid and 10 µL of Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) were incubated in OptiMEM (ThermoFischer Scientific) separately for 5 minutes. The OptiMEM/DNA and OptiMEM/Lipofectamine volumes were then combined and incubated for another 20 minutes before being added dropwise into a 2 cm adherent tissue culture plate containing approximately 200,000 suspended C2C12 cells. After 6 hours, the media was exchanged, and the now adherent cells were left to grow over night. On reaching a confluency of 70%, the cells were passaged into a 96 well plate after serial diluting to a 1 cell/50 µL concentration. Once the cells had adhered to the plate, the growth media was exchanged for selection media containing 5 µg/ml of puromycin (BioShop). After 14 days, the media surrounding the remaining cells was exchanged with regular growth media and cells were left to proliferate. Single clonal cell colonies were chosen and collected after reaching a confluency of 70%. Mutant genotypes were identified by collecting RNA from the cells, and reverse-transcribing it into cDNA. The resulting samples were then amplified using end-point PCR with primers specific for *Sufu* including the sgRNA sequence (Table 2) and purified using a QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen). The amplified DNA was sequenced at the London Regional Genomics Centre and the results were analyzed using Geneious 2021 and Synthego Performance Analysis. Further tests were conducted by immunoblotting protein lysates to identify the presence of the SUFU protein.

Table 2. Primers	used for	CRISPR/Ca	as9
------------------	----------	------------------	-----

Sufu gRNA	GGCTGATAACTGACATGCGG		
<i>Sufu</i> PCR	Forward Primer (5' to 3')	Reverse Primer (5' to 3')	Tm
	CTCCATCCCACCTGTAGAGTTC	AGCAAGGTTTTCCTCACTCAAG	54°C

2.6 Statistical analysis

One-way ANOVA and Dunnett post hoc analysis was used to compare the levels of protein and expression of genes across different days of differentiation. Specifically, each day of differentiation was compared to the control day (day 0). A Shapiro-Wilk's test was used to determine the normality of data while a Levene's test was used to determine if the data contained equal variance. A transformation (square root) was applied to data considered to be violating parametric assumptions. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant and the error bars reported on all graphs represent the standard error of the mean. All data collected and analyzed is representative of 3 biological replicates. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism Software (Prism version 9.3.1).

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 Shh signalling decreases during myogenesis.

C2C12 cells were differentiated over the course of 6 days. In the undifferentiated state, the cells resembled circular myoblasts (**Figure 10A**). However, by day 2 of differentiation (**Figure 10B**) these cells elongated to form myocytes. By day 4 of differentiation (**Figure 10C**) cells had fused to form myotubular structures (myotubes), that later become more prominent by day 6 (arrows, **Figure 10D**). These gross morphological changes help to confirm the differentiation process.

To test for the activation of Shh signalling during this time, samples were collected from cells at multiple days. These samples were converted to cDNA for use in RT-qPCR experiments to determine the expression of Shh responsive genes *Gli1* and *Ptch1*. In the undifferentiated state, cells showed high levels of *Gli1* expression, but this decreased by day 6 of differentiation and indicated a decrease in Shh signalling (**Figure 11A**).



Figure 10: The differentiation of C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes. Bright-field microscopic images showing the differentiation of C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes at days (A) 0, (B) 2, (C) 4, and (D) 6 of differentiation. Arrows indicate myotubes. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.





3.2 SUFU is present during myogenesis

Having established one of the markers (*Gli1*) declined during differentiation and suggested Shh signalling was reduced or absent during this time, SUFU was examined as it is known to negatively regulate Shh⁸. C2C12 protein lysates were collected at multiple days during differentiation and used in immunoblotting experiments with antibodies to detect markers of myogenesis. Since gross morphological analysis (Figure 10) suggested the cells had differentiated, I was expecting these myogenic markers changed accordingly and could be quantified by densitometric analysis. Myogenic differentiation 1 (MYOD), a marker of myoblast cells, was present before and after differentiation (Figure 12A), and although the levels on blots appeared to change with the different days sampled, no significant differences were observed following the densiometric analysis (Figure 12B). Myogenin (MYOG), a marker for myocytes, was not present in the undifferentiated state; however, it appeared starting at day 1 of differentiation and remained present at day 7 (Figure 12A). Densitometric analysis showed that there was a significant increase in its levels at days 4-7 of differentiation in comparison to the undifferentiated state (Figure 12C). Similarly, Myosin heavy chain (MHC), used as a marker for the myotubule cell stage, was absent in the undifferentiated state (Figure 12A). However, and like MYOG, it appeared during differentiation with a significant increase noted in its levels at days 3-7 when compared to the undifferentiated state (Figure 12D). These results corroborate the gross morphological changes I noted in Figure 1.

To test whether SUFU levels changed during differentiation, protein samples were probed with antibodies specific for SUFU and immunoblots were processed as above to detect changes in its levels. Results showed that SUFU was absent in cells that had not undergone differentiation but later was present like the myogenic markers MYOG and MHC (Figure 12A). SUFU levels significantly increased when compared to the undifferentiated state at days 4 and 7 of differentiation (Figure 12E).



A





43

Figure 12: Protein levels of myogenic markers and SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells. (A) Immunoblots showing the presence of MYOD, MYOG, MHC and SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells over the course of 7 days. Densitometric quantification of immunoblotting results is shown for (B) MYOD, (C) MYOG, (D) MHC, and (E) SUFU. β -Actin was used as a reference protein. N=3. Data was analyzed using a One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's post-hoc analysis with each day compared to the control day (day 0). Bars represent mean \pm SEM. *P-value ≤ 0.05 , **P-value ≤ 0.01 , ***P-value < 0.001.

3.3 Constitutive activation of Shh signalling disrupts myogenesis

With confirmation of a decrease in Shh signalling occurring during myogenesis, the effect of constitutively activating the pathway during differentiation was tested. To test for this effect smoothened agonist (SAG), a chemical agonist of Shh signalling, was added to the media of differentiating C2C12 cells. Once again, samples were collected from differentiating cells at multiple days and converted into cDNA for use in RT-qPCR experiments in an effort to determine the expression of Shh responsive genes *Gli1* and *Ptch1*. It was observed that both *Gli1* and *Ptch1* significantly increased in expression by day 6 of differentiation when compared to the undifferentiated state (Figure 13A&B). This indicates an increase in Shh signalling and further confirms the success of the SAG treatment in activating the pathway.

C2C12 cells treated with SAG were successful in differentiating throughout the course of the 6 days. Once again while in the undifferentiated state, the cells resembled circular myoblasts (Figure 14A) and later elongated to form myocytes after 2 days of differentiation (Figure 14B). At day 4 of differentiation (Figure 14C) myotubes formed which by day 6 (arrows, Figure 14D) became more prominent. However, the amount of myotubes generated by day 6 were observed to be greatly less than that of non-SAG treated cells (Figure 10D). This gross morphology indicates that constitutive activation of Shh signalling disrupts myogenesis.



Figure 13: mRNA levels of Shh responsive genes in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells treated with SAG. RT-qPCR results showing the expression of (A) *Gli1* and (B) *Ptch1* in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells treated with SAG over the course of 6 days. *Gapdh* was used as a reference gene. N=3. Data was analyzed using a One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's post-hoc analysis with each day compared to the control day (day 0). Bars represent mean \pm SEM. *P-value ≤ 0.05 , **P-value ≤ 0.01 .



Figure 14: The differentiation of SAG treated C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes. Bright-field microscopic images showing the differentiation of SAG treated C2C12 myoblast cells into myotubes at days (A) 0, (B) 2, (C) 4, and (D) 6 of differentiation. Arrows indicate myotubes. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.

3.4 Constitutive activation of Shh signalling has no effect on SUFU during differentiation

Having established that constitutive activation of Shh signalling in C2C12 cells leads to the disruption of myogenesis, the presence of SUFU was examined in these cells to determine whether the protein was also affected. Once again cell lysates of SAG treated C2C12 cells were collected at multiple days of differentiation for use in immunoblotting experiments to detect for the presence of molecular markers of myogenesis using antibodies. MYOD was found to be present in the undifferentiated state but began to decrease in levels during differentiation (Figure 15A). A significant decrease was observed at days 4 and 6 of differentiation in comparison to the undifferentiated state (Figure 15B). This contrasts with what was found in non-SAG treated cells which showed no difference in levels among the undifferentiated and differentiated days (Figure 12B). MYOG was not present in the undifferentiated state but appeared very faintly during all days of differentiation (Figure 15A). Densitometric analysis showed a significant increase in levels at day 4 and 6 of differentiation when compared to the undifferentiated state (Figure 15C) matching what was seen in non-SAG treated cells (Figure 12C). MHC was not present both before and after differentiation (Figure 15A) as opposed to its increase in levels during differentiation as seen in non-SAG treated cells (Figure 12D) thus indicating a disruption in myogenesis due to the increased Shh signalling. These results corroborate with the gross morphological changes noted in Figure 5 where SAG treated cells showed a marked decrease in myotube formation.

Interestingly, SUFU was absent in the undifferentiated state while present during all days of differentiation (Figure 15A). A significant increase in levels is seen at days 2, 4, and 6 of differentiation (Figure 15D). This matches closely with what was observed in non-SAG treated cells (Figure 12A).





MYOD





Figure 15: Protein levels for myogenic markers and SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells treated with SAG. (A) Immunoblots showing the presence of MYOD, MYOG, MHC and SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells treated with SAG over the course of 6 days. Densitometric quantification of the immunoblotting results shown for (B) MYOD, (C) MYOG, and (D) SUFU. β -Actin was used as a reference protein. N=3. Data was analyzed using a One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's post-hoc analysis with each day compared to the control day (day 0). Bars represent mean \pm SEM. *P-value ≤ 0.05 , **P-value ≤ 0.01 .

3.5 Utilizing the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system to generate *Sufu-/-* C2C12 cells

With the presence of SUFU during Shh mediated myogenesis confirmed, an attempt was made to test for the effect that a lack of the protein would have on myogenesis. The CRIPR/Cas9 genome editing system was used to generate *Sufu-/-* C2C12 cells for use in experimentation. After transfecting gRNA specific for *Sufu* into the cells and selecting for a single clonal cell line through selective antibiotic treatment, the resulting cells were analyzed to determine whether a successful knockout was created. Aberrant sequence analysis showcased an increase in the percentage of aberrant sequences after the expected cut site in the clonal cells indicating that the gRNA was successful in targeting the correct sequence (Figure 16A). However, indel spectrum analysis detected 3 different possible mutant sequences within the clonal cell population, thus denoting that a single clonal cell was not successfully isolated (Figure 16B). Furthermore, immunoblotting showed that the clonal cells still continued to express SUFU while differentiating (Figure 17). As a result, it can be stated that *Sufu-/-* C2C12 cells were not generated.



Figure 16: Genetic analysis determining the successful generation of a *Sufu-/-***C2C12 clone within a CRISPR-Cas9 generated mutant clonal pool.** (A) Aberrant sequence analysis after sequence alignment between wild type and CRISPR-Cas9 generated mutant C2C12 cells. Percentage of aberrant sequences in the mutant is shown across a section of the *Sufu* gene including the Cas9 nuclease cut site. Black bars represent wild-type sequences while green bars represent mutant sequences. Dashed line indicates the cut sequence. (B) Indel spectrum analysis showing possible deletion or insertion mutations present in the clonal population after sequence alignment between wild type and CRISPR-Cas9 generated mutant C2C12 cells. Red bars indicate a significant presence of a mutant type in the population (p<0.001).



Figure 17: The presence of SUFU in CRISPR-Cas9 generated C2C12 mutant cells. Immunoblot showcasing the presence of SUFU in differentiating C2C12 myoblast cells containing a CRISPR-Cas9 generated mutant over the course of 6 days. Wild-type C2C12 cells at day 6 of differentiation were used as a positive control. β-Actin used as a loading control.

Chapter 4

4 Discussion

4.1 Summary of findings

4.1.1 Modelling myogenesis in C2C12 cells

Myogenesis is defined as the formation of skeletal muscle tissue during embryonic development through the differentiation of stem cells into muscle specific cells⁵. The process is often studied starting at the myoblast stage, with undifferentiated progenitor cells having the ability to give rise to muscle cells. Once differentiation is initiated, myoblasts elongate to form myocytes, the initial stage in muscle cell generation⁸¹. Myocytes then fuse to form multinucleated cells known as myotubes, which are muscle fibers capable of contraction⁸³.

In vitro studies utilizing cell culture involving myogenesis often use signs of morphological change, as viewed through microscopy, to confirm the success of differentiation²²¹⁻²²³. However, such methods do not allow for proper quantification of the rate of differentiation. Instead, the use of molecular markers offers a better alternative for assessing an increase or decrease in the generation of muscle cells during experiments. The most popular of these markers is myogenin (MYOG), a transcriptional activator required for myoblasts to begin differentiating⁹⁰ and myosin heavy chain (MHC), a major contractile protein of myogenesis, despite signifying different stages of differentiation. Furthermore, these markers are preferably quantified by researchers through methods such as RT-qPCR²²⁴⁻²²⁵. While this approach is simpler and more efficient, it does not act as a proper confirmation of differentiation due to transcripts having no immediate direct cell function, instead simply serving as the intermediate step between genes and proteins. Essentially, expression of the gene does not indicate the presence of the protein.

To better model the process of myogenesis *in vitro*, I built a timeline to identify the different cell stages during differentiation using C2C12 myoblast cells as a model. As opposed to the quantification of gene expression, protein expression better served as molecular markers due to their role as the functional molecules of the cell responsible for its biological processes, including differentiation. To address this, immunoblotting was used to identify the presence of specific protein markers consisting of MYOG and MHC, along with myoblast determination protein 1 (MYOD), a myogenic regulatory factor highly expressed in the initial myoblast stage⁸⁸. The resulting blots and densitometric quantification data showed a sequential pattern in the appearance of these myogenic markers. First off, MYOD was the only marker present in the undifferentiated state (Figure 12A&B) and served as a positive control for myoblasts that had yet to switch from proliferation to differentiation (Figure 10A). MYOG appeared during the first day of differentiation (Figure 12A&C), which closely matches when myoblasts were observed elongating to form myocytes (Figure 10B). MHC appeared weak starting at day 2 of differentiation and levels were higher later in the profile (Figure 12A&D). This increase corresponds to when myotube structures form in higher numbers (Figure 10D). These results show that MYOG and MHC in my study cannot be used interchangeably as they appear to signify different timepoints during myogenesis. Together, MHC is better suited as a marker indicating the completion of myogenesis, whereas MYOG pinpoints when differentiation had begun.

4.1.2 Sonic hedgehog signalling in C2C12 cells

The sonic hedgehog (Shh) signalling pathway is an evolutionary conserved pathway that plays an important role in embryonic development and tissue patterning¹⁹². While mainly known for its importance in the development of the central nervous system^{196,197}, the pathway is also as equally important in the development of skeletal muscle⁷. In either case, the off state is characterized by the absence of SHH ligand and the presence of the transmembrane protein patched (PTCH) which inhibits the transmembrane co-receptor SMO and in turn prevents signalling from occurring^{198,199}. For activation to occur, the sonic hedgehog (SHH) must bind to PTCH, thus inhibiting the function of the receptor and releasing SMO from its inhibition leading to further signalling²⁰¹. One of the direct results

of this activation involves the signalling of GLI transcription factors to upregulate hedgehog responsive genes such as *Gli1* and *Ptch1*^{203,204}.

Previous studies have noted that Shh signalling plays an important role in multiple stages of skeletal muscle development. As one example, the development of the somite requires Shh signalling from the notochord in tandem with Wnt signalling from the dorsal neural tube²¹¹. Inhibition of the pathway after the formation of the somites can even prevent further differentiation of progenitors down the myogenic cell lineage as seen in zebrafish embryos²¹⁵. The sclerotome is also formed through Shh signalling in the notochord and floor plate⁷⁶ with inhibition of the pathway leading to disrupted development in mice embryos^{213,214}. Furthermore, activation of the pathway is needed for downregulation of *Pax3* in the dermomyotome²¹⁶ and the later upregulation of *Myf5* in the myotome²¹⁷ allowing progenitors to continue down the muscle cell lineage. During this time, both Shh and Wnt signalling work in tandem once again in order to antagonize BMP signalling¹⁷¹ which works to maintain an undifferentiated population of cells and prevent myotome formation²¹⁸.

The pathway has also been linked to the later stages of myogenesis and eventual formation of myofibers. A *in vivo* study utilizing *mdx* mice, a model of Duchene muscular dystrophy found that Shh signalling was actively being inhibited, but over activating the pathway caused the increased proliferation of myogenic cells and generation of myofibers, essentially leading to the regeneration of the muscle²¹⁹. The effect of Shh signalling on skeletal muscle development at the organ level helps confirm its importance in the process but does not specify how the pathway operates during this time. To explore this further, researchers identified how Shh signalling affects muscle cell differentiation utilizing C2C12 cells. When treated with exogenous SHH ligand to constitutively activate the pathway, differentiating C2C12 cells showed a decrease in the generation of myotubes. However, after the addition of cyclopamine, a chemical inhibitor of Shh signalling, differentiation is rescued and the successful generation of myotubes increased⁷. Furthermore, when they examined proliferation, treatment with exogenous SHH increased cell growth whereas the addition of cyclopamine caused a decrease⁷. Essentially, Shh
signalling promotes the proliferation of progenitor cells, whereas its deactivation is required for differentiation into muscle cells to occur.

The results of my study not only support the concept that the inhibition of Shh signalling is needed to switch precursor muscle cells from proliferation to differentiation, but also provides tangible evidence of the pathways deactivation during myogenesis occurs because of the loss or appearance of genetic markers such as *Gli1* and *Ptch1*. To demonstrate this, C2C12 cells were differentiated over one week and nucleic acid lysates were collected at multiple days for use in RT-qPCR and immunoblotting experiments. The expression of Shh-responsive genes Gli1 and Ptch1 were analyzed to determine the activation or deactivation of the pathway during differentiation. As opposed to the protein markers used to determine successful differentiation, mRNA/gene expression levels were used to identify Shh signalling as the upregulation of Shh responsive genes alone would indicate that the pathway is activated. The results showed a decrease in *Glil* over the course of differentiation with a significant drop in levels by day 6 (Figure 11A). Unexpectedly, Ptch1 showed no changes in expression throughout differentiation (Figure 11B). Nevertheless, previous studies utilizing *Ptch1* as a marker for Shh signalling deactivation have shown similar results with some cases, even reporting an increase in expression^{226,227}. This increase may be due to the upregulation of *Ptch1* being needed for negative feedback to inhibit the pathway. Conversely, when differentiating cells are treated with Smoothened agonist (SAG), which should keep Shh signalling on, both Glil and Ptchl increase in expression throughout differentiation, with a significant rise in levels occurring at day 6 (Figure 13A&B). My results in SAG treated cells also correlate with a disruption in myogenesis as evident by the gross morphology of the cells and immunoblotting results throughout differentiation. When compared to controls (Figure 10D), SAG treated cells showed fewer myotubes (Figure 14D). Furthermore, immunoblotting results revealed that SAG treated cells had no MHC signals, a marker for successful myotube differentiation (Figure 15A). Thus, SAG treatment shows that Shh signalling must be inhibited in order for myogenesis to occur and as such proposes a possible role for the protein inhibitor of the pathway, SUFU, to play during differentiation.

4.1.3 The presence of SUFU in differentiating C2C12 cells

One of the natural inhibitors of the Shh signalling pathway is the protein Suppressor of Fused (SUFU). In the inactivated state of the pathway, SUFU promotes the phosphorylation of GLI transcription factors through protein kinase A (PKA), glycogen synthase kinase (GSK3), and casein kinase 1 (CK1)⁸. The phosphorylated GLI is ubiquitinated and partially degraded by the proteasome into a transcriptional repressor that blocks Hedgehog-responsive gene transcription²⁰⁰. In the activated state SMO is free to translocate to the primary cilium²⁰¹ where it causes SUFU to disassociate from GLI, thus allowing the latter to act as a transcriptional activator of Hedgehog-responsive genes²⁰².

The role of SUFU as an inhibitor in Shh signalling has been shown to be conserved across many different tissues during development, primarily that of neural tissue. Experiments utilizing mouse embryos with a deletion in *Sufu* show neural tube closure defects²²⁸ as well as a failure to develop the most ventral neurons of the neural tube²²⁹. The protein has been shown to play a role in the proper differentiation of retinal neurons²³⁰, cerebellar neurons²³¹, and oligodendrocytes in the forebrain²³² while reducing astrocyte differentiation²³³. Beyond neurogenesis, SUFU has been implicated in both osteogenesis and angiogenesis. Inhibition of the protein improves osteogenic and angiogenic potentials in both bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) through activation of Shh signalling²³⁴. Furthermore, overexpression of SUFU in mice was also found to inhibit skin wound healing by decreasing Shh signalling thus indicating a role in epidermal differentiation as well²³⁵.

Though very little research exists revolving around the topic, SUFU has also been shown to play an important role in muscle development. One study speculates that *Sufu* mutations could be a cause of rhabdomyosarcoma, caused by the failure of proliferating mesenchymal cells to differentiate into muscle cells. Rhabdomyomas, benign tumors of straited muscle, caused by the disease, highly express Shh responsive genes such as *Gli1* and *Ptch1*, indicating activation of the pathway²²⁰. Toward that end, these researchers used immunostaining and reported SUFU was in tumors compared to the surrounding muscle tissue. Furthermore, tumors containing more differentiated muscle cells also showed a comparatively stronger signal for SUFU, and supports the notion that activation of the Shh

pathway is required for the proliferation of progenitor cells, whereas deactivation is needed for differentiation into muscle cells²²⁰.

To better understand the connection between SUFU and Shh signalling that occurs during myogenesis, I attempted to identify the presence of SUFU throughout differentiation. C2C12 cells were differentiated and protein samples collected and used in immunoblotting experiments to detect the levels of SUFU. Results showed that SUFU was not present in proliferating cells. However once differentiation was initiated, SUFU was present at all days (Figure 12A&E). Its initial appearance on day 1 coincided with the appearance of MYOG, the marker for myocyte differentiation (Figure 12A&C) and later MHC, the marker for myotubes (Figure 12A&D). The presence of SUFU throughout differentiation is linked to the decrease in the expression of the Hedgehog-responsive gene *Gli1* (Figure 11A), and would indicate that SUFU is required to deactivate the Shh signalling pathway during myogenesis. Interestingly, this SUFU pattern is similar to what was seen in non-SAG treated cells despite the increase in Shh signalling. These results indicate that the SAG treatment had no effect on the levels of SUFU protein during differentiation. Nevertheless, SUFU signals are absent in the proliferative state and present throughout the differentiative state (Figure 15A&D). This pattern is seen and probably occurs after Shh signalling upregulates *Gli1* and *Ptch1* in the SAG treated cells (Figure 13A&B), and the reduction in myogenesis as seen with corresponding low levels of MYOG and absence of MHC (Figure 15A&C). Interestingly, studies examining the response to an overexpression in Shh signalling also report high levels of SUFU^{236,237}. In this way, SUFU may be needed to act as a negative regulator during myogenesis and turn off the constitutive activation of the Hedgehog pathway.



B

A



Figure 9: Model for the role of SUFU during Shh signalling mediated myogenesis. (A) In the presence of the SHH ligand, PTCH is inhibited, and SMO is translocated into the primary cilium. This leads to the dissociation of GLI from SUFU allowing GLI to enter the nucleus and act as a transcriptional activator of Shh responsive genes. The pathway can also be activated by SAG through direct binding with SMO. (B) In the absence of the Shh ligand, PTCH inhibits SMO thus allowing SUFU to promote the phosphorylation and degradation of GLI into that of a transcriptional repressor of Shh responsive genes. Created with BioRender.com.

4.2 Limitations and future directions

Many different signalling pathways have been linked to the differentiation of progenitor cells down the muscle cell lineage such as with Wnt and FGF¹⁷⁸ signalling. Few studies, however, have been devoted to the Shh signalling pathway plays and its negative regulation that occurs in part by SUFU. This study attempted to uncover the potential role that SUFU plays in myogenesis, while also further modelling the activation/deactivation state of Shh signalling throughout muscle differentiation. Unfortunately, while SUFU was found during differentiation, its actual role could not be determined due to experimental issues with CRISPR-Cas9. Furthermore, other limitations also exist in this study and my explanations are presented below.

I believe one such limitation pertains to sample size. During this study, immunoblotting and RT-qPCR experiments were replicated a total of 3 times. In this case, N=1 represents a single biological replicate where both protein and nucleic acid samples were collected from a single petri dish of lysed cells per day of differentiation. While this is the same standard used by other studies, a small sample size can result in large variations²³⁸. This issue is seen in the densitometric quantification of immunoblotting results that show the levels of SUFU in differentiating C2C12 cells. Specifically, despite the trend of SUFU being present throughout all days of differentiation, there was no statistical significance in protein levels at days 1-3 and 5-6 in non-SAG treated cells (Figure 12A&E). Thus, a larger sample size may have resolved this issue by reducing variation and increasing statistical power.

Another limitation pertains to the RT-qPCR results and relates to the molecular markers used for the activation/deactivation of Shh signalling. Both *Gli1* and *Ptch1* were used as markers, but only *Gli1* showed a significant decrease in expression throughout muscle cell differentiation and indicated Shh signalling was being inactivated (Figure 11A). As discussed previously, *Ptch1* showed no changes in its expression (Figure 11B), possibly due to its role as a negative regulator of the pathway whereby its upregulation is needed during muscle differentiation²⁰³. As such, it may be ideal to test for the inactivation of the Shh signalling pathway using other Hedgehog-responsive genes such as *Gli2* and *Smo*,

both of which are known to positively regulate the pathway. GLI2 being a transcriptional activator that upregulates Hedgehog-responsive genes²⁰⁴ while SMO acts as the initial protein in the pathway that initiates the signalling cascade²⁰¹. Previous studies have utilized these genes as markers and show results where their decrease in expression occurs concomitantly with the inactivation of Shh signalling^{239,240}.

Beyond limitations, there are also avenues to expand upon the study conducted in this thesis, particularly in regard to the initial presence of SUFU during myogenesis. The presence of SUFU during myogenesis and its absence during the proliferative stage prior to differentiation was encouraging (Figure 12A&E). More specifically, SUFU levels appeared following the first day of differentiation along with MYOG, a marker for myocyte differentiation (Figure 12A&C). This appearance was also before MHC, a marker for the presence of myotubes (Figure 12A&D). Although not really a limitation of this study, future immunoblotting experiments should be conducted at earlier timepoints, between the initiation of and the end of the first day of differentiation. The results of such studies would therefore clarify whether SUFU appears before or after MYOG, and would indicate whether the protein is required for myocyte generation or only for myotube formation.

Overall, the results in this study only confirm the presence of SUFU during myogenesis and not its role in the process. To determine its role, I employed the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system to test how a loss of function in *Sufu* could affect muscle cell differentiation. Unfortunately, the objective of the study, to create a *Sufu^{-/-}* C2C12 cell line, was not completed as there was a failure to generate a proper knockout cell line. I expect that while the gRNA used was successful in targeting and editing the correct sequence (**Figure 16A**), a single clonal cell was not properly isolated because of my imprecision related to the serial dilution of cells (**Figure 16B**). As a result, the cell line consisted of a population of multiple mutants, some of which continued to express *Sufu* and the encoded protein (**Figure 17**), while others had the desired indels in the gene. Regardless, uncovering the role that SUFU plays during myogenesis through either knockdown or knockout studies remains an integral goal for future research.

Lastly, to further expand on the results obtained in this study it would be beneficial to repeat the experiments using different cell models. Replicating the findings in different cell lines, from a multitude of species, would ensure the robustness and validity that a common phenomenon exists for SUFU during muscle cell differentiation. Other myoblast lines that could be tested include rat cell lines such as L6 cells¹³⁷, RD cells²⁴¹, and H9c2 cells²⁴². Human cell lines also exist such as HSMM cells¹³⁶ and LHCN-M2 cells²⁴³. Furthermore, it may be of interest to study how the Shh signalling pathway along with SUFU affects differentiation at an earlier cell stage prior to the myoblast stage. In this case, human embryonic stem cells would be of use with myogenic differentiation having been successfully induced in both H1²⁴⁴ and H9²⁴⁵ cell lines. That said, other stem cell lines including those representing mesenchymal stem cells should be tested as they can be reprogrammed to form skeletal muscle²⁴⁶.

4.3 Conclusion

This thesis aimed to characterize the role of SUFU, a protein inhibitor of the Shh signalling pathway, during myogenesis. Throughout muscle cell differentiation, Shh signalling decreases over time as its inactivation is needed in order to switch precursor muscle cells from proliferation to differentiation. This is further supported morphologically as the cells showcase signs of disrupted differentiation when the pathway is constitutively activated. During the proliferative stage when Sonic Hedgehog is required, SUFU protein levels are below detectable levels. However, this changes with differentiation, and SUFU levels are significantly higher starting at the first day of differentiation and onwards, presumably to counteract and negatively regulate Hedgehog signalling. While results from this study have confirmed the presence of SUFU during myogenesis, further research is needed to determine its actual role in the events. Future experiments involving the creation of *Sufur*^{-/-} cells are needed and is one essential feature that would address the role of SUFU in skeletal muscle formation. Understanding the role of SUFU as a potential inhibitor of Shh signalling will help to further elucidate how the pathway is regulated during muscle development.

References

- 1. Slack, J.M.W. 2007. Metaplasia and transdifferentiation: from pure biology to the clinic. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 8(5): 369–378.
- Birbrair, A., and Frenette, P.S. 2016. Niche heterogeneity in the bone marrow. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1370(1): 82–96.
- Mahla, R.S. 2016. Stem Cells Applications in Regenerative Medicine and Disease Therapeutics. International Journal of Cell Biology 1-24.
- 4. Mitalipov, S., and Wolf, D. 2009. Totipotency, pluripotency and nuclear reprogramming. Engineering of Stem Cells 185–199.
- Yaffe, D., and Feldman, M. 1965. The formation of hybrid multinucleated muscle fibers from myoblasts of different genetic origin. Developmental Biology 11(2): 300– 317.
- Perry, R., and Rudnick, M. 2000. Molecular mechanisms regulating myogenic determination and differentiation. Front Biosci 5: 750–767.
- Koleva, M., Kappler, R., Vogler, M., Herwig, A., Fulda, S., and Hahn, H. 2005. Pleiotropic effects of sonic hedgehog on muscle satellite cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 62(16): 1863-70.
- Humke, E.W., Dorn, K.V., Milenkovic, L., Scott, M.P., and Rohatgi, R. 2010. The output of Hedgehog signaling is controlled by the dynamic association between Suppressor of Fused and the Gli proteins. Genes Dev 24(7): 670-82.
- Frontera, W.R., and Ochala, J. 2015. Skeletal Muscle: A Brief Review of Structure and Function. Calcif Tissue Int 96: 183–195.

- Gordan, R., Gwathmey, J.K., and Xie, L.H. 2015. Autonomic and endocrine control of cardiovascular function. World J Cardiol 7(4): 204-14.
- 11. Martonosi, A.N. 2000. Animal electricity, Ca2+ and muscle contraction. A brief history of muscle research. Acta Biochimica Polonica 47(3): 493–516.
- 12. Golob, M., Moss, R.L., and Chesler, N.C. 2014. Cardiac tissue structure, properties, and performance: a materials science perspective. Ann Biomed Eng 42(10): 2003-13.
- Bratoiu, I., Burlui, A.M., Cardoneanu, A., Macovei, L.A., Richter, P., Rusu-Zota, G., Rezus, C., Badescu, M.C., Szalontay, A., and Rezus, E. 2022. The Involvement of Smooth Muscle, Striated Muscle, and the Myocardium in Scleroderma: A Review. Int J Mol Sci 23(19): 12011.
- Webb, R.C. 2003. Smooth Muscle Contraction And Relaxation. Advances in Physiology Education 27(4): 201–206.
- 15. Gillies, A.R., & Lieber, R.L. 2011. Structure and function of the skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. Muscle & Nerve 44(3): 318–331.
- 16. Paulin, D., and Li, Z. 2004. Desmin: A major intermediate filament protein essential for the structural integrity and function of muscle. Experimental Cell Research 301(1): 1–7.
- Huxley, H.E. 1957. The double array of filaments in cross-striated muscle. Journal of Cell Biology 3(5): 631–648.

- Galińska-Rakoczy, A., Engel, P., Xu, C., Jung, H.S., Craig, R., Tobacman, L.S., and Lehman, W. 2008. Structural basis for the regulation of muscle contraction by troponin and tropomyosin. Journal of Molecular Biology 379(5): 929–935.
- Monroy, J.A., Powers, K.L., Gilomre, L.A., Uyeno, T.A., Lindstedt, S.L., and Nishikawa, K.C. 2012. What is the role of titin in active muscle? Exerc Sports Sci Rev 40: 73–78.
- 20. Ottenheijm, C.A.C., and Granzier, H. 2010. Lifting the nebula: novel insights into skeletal muscle contractility. Physiology 25: 304–310.
- Luther, P.K. 2009. The vertebrate muscle Z-disc: Sarcomere anchor for structure and signalling. Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility 30(5): 171–185.
- 22. Hoppeler, H., Luthi, P., Claassen, H., Weibel, E.R., and Howald, H. 1973. The ultrastructure of the normal human skeletal muscle: a morphometric analysis of untrained men, women and well-trained orienteers. Pflugers Arch 344: 217–232.
- 23. Jayasinghe, I.D., and Launikonis, B.S. 2013. Three-dimensional reconstruction and analysis of the tubular system of vertebrate skeletal muscle. J Cell Sci 126: 4048–4058.
- 24. Kerr, J.P., Ward, C.W., and Bloch, R.J. 2014. Dysferlin at transverse tubules regulates Ca2+ homeostasis in skeletal muscle. Front Physiol 5: 89.
- Green, H.J., Balantyne, C.S., MacDougall, J.D., Tarnopolsky, M.A., and Schertzer, J.D. 2003. Adaptations in human sarcoplasmic reticulum to prolonged submaximal training. J Appl Physiol 94: 2034–2042.
- 26. Lamboley, C.R., Murphy, R.M., McKenna, M.J., and Lamb, G.D. 2014. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ uptake and leak properties, and SERCA isoform expression, in type I and type II fibres of human skeletal muscle. J Physiol 592: 1381–1395.

- Beard, N.A., Laver, D.R., and Dulhunty, A. 2004. Calsequestrin and the calcium release channel of skeletal and cardiac muscle. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 85(1): 33–69.
- Dahl, R., Larsen, S., Dohlmann, T.L., Qvortrup, K., Helge, J.W., Dela, F., and Prats, C. 2014. Three dimensional reconstruction of the human skeletal muscle mitochondrial network as a tool to assess mitochondrial content and structural organization. Acta Physiol 213(1): 145-155.
- 29. Rebbeck, R.T., Karunasekara, Y., Board, P.G., Beard, N.A., Casarotto, M.G., and Dulhunty, A.F. 2014. Skeletal muscle excitation–contraction coupling: who are the dancing partners? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 48: 28–38.
- Ptácek, L.J., Tawil, R., Griggs, R.C., Engel, A.G., Layzer, R.B., Kwiecinski, H., and Bradley, P. 1994. Dihydropyridine receptor mutations cause hypokalemic periodic paralysis. Cell 77(6): 863–868.
- Pouliquin, P., and Dulhunty, A.F. 2009. Homer and the ryanodine receptor. European Biophysics Journal 39(1): 91–102.
- 32. Zot, A.S., and Potter, J.D. 1987. Structural aspects of troponin-tropomyosin regulation of skeletal muscle contraction. Annual Review of Biophysics and Biophysical Chemistry 16(1): 535–559.
- Huxley, H., Niedergerke, R. 1954. Structural changes in muscle during contraction: interference microscopy of living muscle fibres. Nature 173: 971–973.
- 34. Tam, P.P.L., and Loebel, D.A.F. 2007. Gene function in mouse embryogenesis: get set for gastrulation. Nat Rev Genet 8: 368-381.

- Ramkumar, N., and Anderson, K.V. 2011. SnapShot: mouse primitive streak. Cell 146: 488-488.
- Beddington, R.S.P., and Robertson, E.J. 1999. Axis development and early asymmetry in mammals. Cell 96: 195-209.
- Liu, P., Wakamiya, M., Shea, M.J., Albrecht, U., Behringer, R.R., and Bradley, A. 1999. Requirement for Wnt3 in vertebrate axis formation. Nat Genet 22: 361-365.
- 38. Stern, C.D., and Canning, D.R. 1990. Origin of cells giving rise to mesoderm and endoderm in chick embryo. Nature 343: 273-275.
- Garriock, R.J., Chalamalasetty, R.B., Kennedy, M.W., Canizales, L.C., Lewandoski, M. and Yamaguchi, T.P. 2015. Lineage tracing of neuromesodermal progenitors reveals novel Wnt-dependent roles in trunk progenitor cell maintenance and differentiation. Development 142: 1628-1638.
- 40. Selleck, M.A. and Stern, C.D. 1991. Fate mapping and cell lineage analysis of Hensen's node in the chick embryo. Development 112: 615-626.
- 41. Iimura, T., Yang, X., Weijer, C.J., and Pourquie, O. 2007. Dual mode of paraxial mesoderm formation during chick gastrulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104: 2744-2749.
- Takada, S., Stark, K.L., Shea, M.J., Vassileva, G., McMahon, J.A., and McMahon, A.P. 1994. Wnt-3a regulates somite and tailbud formation in the mouse embryo. Genes Dev 8: 174-189.
- 43. Ciruna, B., and Rossant, J. 2001. FGF signaling regulates mesoderm cell fate specification and morphogenetic movement at the primitive streak. Dev Cell 1: 37-49.

- 44. Yamaguchi, T.P., Takada, S., Yoshikawa, Y., Wu, N. and McMahon, A.P. 1999. T (Brachyury) is a direct target of Wnt3a during paraxial mesoderm specification. Genes Dev 13: 3185-3190.
- 45. Chapman, D.L., Agulnik, I., Hancock, S., Silver, L.M. and Papaioannou, V.E. 1996. Tbx6, a mouse T-Box gene implicated in paraxial mesoderm formation at gastrulation. Dev Biol 180: 534-542.
- 46. Yoon, J.K., Moon, R.T. and Wold, B. 2000. The bHLH class protein pMesogenin1 can specify paraxial mesoderm phenotypes. Dev Biol 222: 376-391.
- 47. Olivera-Martinez, I., and Storey, K.G. 2007. Wnt signals provide a timing mechanism for the FGF-retinoid differentiation switch during vertebrate body axis extension. Development 134: 2125-2135.
- 48. Boulet, A.M., and Capecchi, M.R. 2012. Signaling by FGF4 and FGF8 is required for axial elongation of the mouse embryo. Dev Biol 371: 235-245.
- 49. Aulehla, A., Wehrle, C., Brand-Saberi, B., Kemler, R., Gossler, A., Kanzler, B., and Herrmann, B.G. 2003. Wnt3a plays a major role in the segmentation clock controlling somitogenesis. Dev Cell 4: 395-406.
- 50. Winnier, G., Blessing, M., Labosky, P.A., and Hogan, B.L. 1995. Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. Genes Dev 9: 2105-2116.
- 51. Tonegawa, A., Funayama, N., Ueno, N., and Takahashi, Y. 1997. Mesodermal subdivision along the mediolateral axis in chicken controlled by different concentrations of BMP-4. Development 124: 1975-1984.

- 52. McMahon, J.A., Takada, S., Zimmerman, L.B., Fan, C.M., Harland, R.M., and McMahon, A.P. 1998. Noggin-mediated antagonism of BMP signaling is required for growth and patterning of the neural tube and somite. Genes Dev 12: 1438-1452.
- Kishigami, S., and Mishina, Y. 2005. BMP signaling and early embryonic patterning. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16: 265-278.
- 54. Streit, A., and Stern, C.D. 1999. Mesoderm patterning and somite formation during node regression: differential effects of chordin and noggin. Mech Dev 85: 85-96.
- Hubaud, A., and Pourquié, O. 2014. Signalling dynamics in vertebrate segmentation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15: 709-721.
- 56. Chal, J., Oginuma, M., Al Tanoury, Z., Gobert, B., Sumara, O., Hick, A., Bousson, F., Zidouni, Y., Mursch, C., and Moncuquet, P. 2015. Differentiation of pluripotent stem cells to muscle fiber to model Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Biotechnol 33: 962-969.
- 57. Dubrulle, J., McGrew, M.J., and Pourquié, O. 2001. FGF signaling controls somite boundary position and regulates segmentation clock control of spatiotemporal Hox gene activation. Cell 106: 219-232.
- 58. Abu-Abed, S., Dolle, P., Metzger, D., Beckett, B., Chambon, P., and Petkovich, M. 2001. The retinoic acid-metabolizing enzyme, CYP26A1, is essential for normal hindbrain patterning, vertebral identity, and development of posterior structures. Genes Dev 15: 226-240.
- 59. Saga, Y., Hata, N., Koseki, H., and Taketo, M.M. 1997. Mesp2: a novel mouse gene expressed in the presegmented mesoderm and essential for segmentation initiation. Genes Dev 11: 1827-1839.

- Goulding, M.D., Chalepakis, G., Deutsch, U., Erselius, J.R., and Gruss, P. 1991. Pax-3, a novel murine DNA binding protein expressed during early neurogenesis. EMBO J 10: 1135-1147.
- 61. Kume, T., Jiang, H., Topczewska, J.M., and Hogan, B.L. 2001. The murine winged helix transcription factors, Foxc1 and Foxc2, are both required for cardiovascular development and somitogenesis. Genes Dev 15: 2470-2482.
- 62. Mankoo, B.S., Skuntz, S., Harrigan, I., Grigorieva, E., Candia, A., Wright, C.V.E., Arnheiter, H., and Pachnis, V. 2003. The concerted action of Meox homeobox genes is required upstream of genetic pathways essential for the formation, patterning and differentiation of somites. Development 130: 4655-4664.
- Bénazéraf, B., Francois, P., Baker, R.E., Denans, N., Little, C.D., and Pourquié, O.
 2010. A random cell motility gradient downstream of FGF controls elongation of an amniote embryo. Nature 466: 248-252.
- Duband, J.L., Dufour, S., Hatta, K., Takeichi, M., Edelman, G.M., and Thiery, J.P. 1987. Adhesion molecules during somitogenesis in the avian embryo. J Cell Biol 104: 1361-1374.
- 65. Martins, G.G., Rifes, P., Amândio, R., Rodrigues, G., Palmeirim, I., and Thorsteinsdóttir, S. 2009. Dynamic 3D cell rearrangements guided by a fibronectin matrix underlie somitogenesis. PLoS ONE 4: 7429.
- Burgess, R., Rawls, A., Brown, D., Bradley, A., and Olson, E.N. 1996. Requirement of the paraxis gene for somite formation and musculoskeletal patterning. Nature 384: 570-573.

- 67. Linker, C., Lesbros, C., Gros, J., Burrus, L.W., Rawls, A., and Marcelle, C. 2005. Beta-Catenin-dependent Wnt signalling controls the epithelial organisation of somites through the activation of paraxis. Development 132: 3895-3905.
- Takahashi, Y., Koizumi, K.I., Takagi, A., Kitajima, S., Inoue, T., Koseki, H., and Saga,
 Y. 2000. Mesp2 initiates somite segmentation through the Notch signalling pathway. Nat Genet 25: 390-396.
- Barrios, A., Poole, R.J., Durbin, L., Brennan, C., Holder, N., and Wilson, S.W. 2003. Eph/Ephrin signaling regulates the mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition of the paraxial mesoderm during somite morphogenesis. Curr Biol 13: 1571-1582.
- Chal, J., Guillot, C., and Pourquié, O. 2017. PAPC couples the segmentation clock to somite morphogenesis by regulating N-cadherin-dependent adhesion. Development 144: 664-676.
- 71. Nakaya, Y., Kuroda, S., Katagiri, Y.T., Kaibuchi, K., and Takahashi, Y. 2004. Mesenchymal-epithelial transition during somitic segmentation is regulated by differential roles of Cdc42 and Rac1. Dev Cell 7: 425-438.
- 72. Chal, J., and Pourquie, O. 2009. Patterning and differentiation of the vertebrate spine. The Skeletal System: Cold Spring Harbor Monographs 53: 41-116.
- Hirsinger, E., Jouve, C., Dubrulle, J., and Pourquié, O. 2000. Somite formation and patterning. Int Rev Cytol 198: 1-65.
- 74. Lepper, C., and Fan, C.M. 2010. Inducible lineage tracing of Pax7-descendant cells reveals embryonic origin of adult satellite cells. Genesis 48: 424-436.

- 75. Seale, P., Bjork, B., Yang, W., Kajimura, S., Chin, S., Kuang, S., Scimè, A., Devarakonda, S., Conroe, H.M., and Erdjument-Bromage, H. 2008. PRDM16 controls a brown fat/skeletal muscle switch. Nature 454: 961-967.
- 76. Fan, C.M., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1994. Patterning of mammalian somites by surface ectoderm and notochord: evidence for sclerotome induction by a hedgehog homolog. Cell 79: 1175-1186.
- 77. Gros, J., Scaal, M., and Marcelle, C. 2004. A two-step mechanism for myotome formation in chick. Dev Cell 6: 875-882.
- 78. Ott, M.O., Bober, E., Lyons, G., Arnold, H., and Buckingham, M. 1991. Early expression of the myogenic regulatory gene, myf-5, in precursor cells of skeletal muscle in the mouse embryo. Development 111: 1097-1107.
- 79. Bober, E., Franz, T., Arnold, H.H., Gruss, P., and Tremblay, P. 1994. Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells. Development 120: 603-612.
- 80. Ordahl, C.P. 1993. Myogenic lineages within the developing somite. Molecular Basis of Morphogenesis 165-176.
- 81. Babai, F., Musevi-Aghdam, J., Schurch, W., Royal, A., and Gabbiani, G. 1990. Coexpression of alpha-sarcomeric actin, alpha-smooth muscle actin and desmin during myogenesis in rat and mouse embryos. Skeletal muscle differentiation 44: 132-142.
- 82. Gros, J., Serralbo, O., and Marcelle, C. 2009. WNT11 acts as a directional cue to organize the elongation of early muscle fibres. Nature 457: 589-593.
- Sieiro-Mosti, D., De La Celle, M., Pele, M., and Marcelle, C. 2014. A dynamic analysis of muscle fusion in the chick embryo. Development 141: 3605-3611.

- Lyons, G.E., Buckingham, M.E., and Mannherz, H.G. 1991. Alpha-actin proteins and gene transcripts are colocalized in embryonic mouse muscle. Development 111: 451-454.
- 85. Cossu, G., Kelly, R., Di Donna, S., Vivarelli, E., and Buckingham, M. 1995. Myoblast differentiation during mammalian somitogenesis is dependent upon a community effect. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 2254-2258.
- 86. Jacob, M., Christ, B., and Jacob, H.J. 1979. The migration of myogenic cells from the somites into the leg region of avian embryos. An ultrastructural study. Anat Embryol 157: 291-309.
- Relaix, F., Rocancourt, D., Mansouri, A., and Buckingham, M. 2005. A Pax3/Pax7dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells. Nature 435: 948-953.
- Rudnicki, M.A., Schnegelsberg, P.N.J., Stead, R.H., Braun, T., Arnold, H.H., and Jaenisch, R. 1993. MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell 75: 1351-1359.
- Pownall, M.E., Gustafsson, M.K., and Emerson, C.P. 2002. Myogenic regulatory factors and the specification of muscle progenitors in vertebrate embryos. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 18: 747-783.
- 90. Hasty, P., Bradley, A., Morris, J.H., Edmondson, D G., Venuti, J.M., Olson, E.N., and Klein, W.H. 1993. Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the myogenin gene. Nature 364: 501-506.
- 91. Münsterberg, A.E., and Lassar, A.B. 1995. Combinatorial signals from the neural tube, floor plate and notochord induce myogenic bHLH gene expression in the somite. Development 121: 651-660.

- 92. Rios, A.C., Serralbo, O., Salgado, D., and Marcelle, C. 2011. Neural crest regulates myogenesis through the transient activation of NOTCH. Nature 473: 532-535.
- 93. Sieiro, D., Rios, A.C., Hirst, C.E., and Marcelle, C. 2016. Cytoplasmic NOTCH and membrane-derived beta-catenin link cell fate choice to epithelial-mesenchymal transition during myogenesis. Elife 5: 14847.
- 94. Andermarcher, E., Surani, M.A., and Gherardi, E. 1996. Co-expression of the HGF/SF and c-met genes during early mouse embryogenesis precedes reciprocal expression in adjacent tissues during organogenesis. Dev Genet 18: 254-266.
- 95. Murphy, M., and Kardon, G. 2011. Origin of vertebrate limb muscle: the role of progenitor and myoblast populations. Curr Top Dev Biol 96: 1-32.
- Messina, G., Biressi, S., Monteverde, S., Magli, A., Cassano, M., Perani, L., Roncaglia, E., Tagliafico, E., Starnes, L., and Campbell, C.E. 2010. Nfix regulates fetal-specific transcription in developing skeletal muscle. Cell 140: 554-566.
- 97. Van Horn, R., and Crow, M.T. 1989. Fast myosin heavy chain expression during the early and late embryonic stages of chicken skeletal muscle development. Dev Biol 134: 279-288.
- 98. White, R.B., Biérinx, A.S., Gnocchi, V.F., and Zammit, P.S. 2010. Dynamics of muscle fibre growth during postnatal mouse development. BMC Dev Biol 10: 21.
- 99. Lander, A.D., Kimble, J., Clevers, H., Fuchs, E., Montarras, D., Buckingham, M., and Oskarsson, T. 2012. What does the concept of the stem cell niche really mean today? BMC Biology 10(1): 19.

- Buckingham, M. 2007. Skeletal muscle progenitor cells and the role of Pax genes. Comptes Rendus Biologies 330(6): 530–533.
- Sanes, J. R. 2003. The basement membrane/basal lamina of skeletal muscle. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278(15): 12601–12604.
- 102. Blanco-Bose, W.E., Yao, C.C., Kramer, R.H., and Blau, H.M. 2001. Purification of mouse primary myoblasts based on alpha 7 integrin expression. Experimental Cell Research 265(2): 212–220.
- 103. Olguin, H.C., and Olwin, B.B. 2004. Pax-7 up-regulation inhibits myogenesis and cell cycle progression in satellite cells: A potential mechanism for self-renewal. Developmental Biology 275(2): 375–388.
- Bjornson, C.R., Cheung, T.H., Liu, L., Tripathi, P.V., Steeper, K.M., and Rando, T.A. 2012. Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. Stem Cells 30(2): 232–242.
- 105. Fukada, S., Uezumi, A., Ikemoto, M., Masuda, S., Segawa, M., Tanimura, N., and Takeda, S. 2007. Molecular signature of quiescent satellite cells in adult skeletal muscle. Stem Cells 25(10): 2448–2459.
- 106. Pallafacchina, G., François, S., Regnault, B., Czarny, B., Dive, V., Cumano, A., and Buckingham, M. 2010. An adult tissue-specific stem cell in its niche: A gene profiling analysis of in vivo quiescent and activated muscle satellite cells. Stem Cell Research 4(2): 77–91.
- Yin, H., Price, F., and Rudnicki, M.A. 2013. Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiological Reviews 93(1): 23–67.

- 108. Cooper, R., Tajbakhsh, S., Mouly, V., Cossu, G., Buckingham, M., and Butler-Browne, G. 1999. In vivo satellite cell activation via Myf5 and MyoD in regenerating mouse skeletal muscle. Journal of Cell Science 112(17): 2895–2901.
- Tidball, J.G., and Villalta, S.A. 2010. Regulatory interactions between muscle and the immune system during muscle regeneration. American Journal of Physiology 298(5): 1173–1187.
- 110. Allen, R.E., and Boxhorn, L.K. 1989. Regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and differentiation by transforming growth factor-beta, insulin-like growth factor I, and fibroblast growth factor. Journal of Cellular Physiology 138(2): 311–315.
- 111. Hindi, S.M., and Kumar, A. 2016. Toll-like receptor signalling in regenerative myogenesis: Friend and foe. Journal of Pathology 239(2): 125–128.
- Li, Y.P. 2003. TNF-α is a mitogen in skeletal muscle. American Journal of Physiology 285(2): 370–376.
- Doles, J.D., and Olwin, B.B. 2014. The impact of JAK-STAT signaling on muscle regeneration. Nature Medicine 20(10): 1094–1095.
- 114. Zhu, H., Xiao, F., Wang, G., Wei, X., Jiang, L., Chen, Y., and Wu, Z. 2016. STAT3 regulates self-renewal of adult muscle satellite cells during injury-induced muscle regeneration. Cell Reports 16(8): 2102–2115.
- 115. Rohwedel, J., Maltsev, V., Bober, E., Arnold, H.H., Hescheler, J., and Wobus, A.M. 1994. Muscle cell differentiation of embryonic stem cells reflects myogenesis in vivo: developmentally regulated expression of myogenic determination genes and functional expression of ionic currents. Dev Biol 164: 87-101.

- 116. Yamada, G., Kioussi, C., Schubert, F.R., Eto, Y., Chowdhury, K., Pituello, F., and Gruss, P. 1994. Regulated expression of Brachyury(T), Nkx1.1 and Pax genes in embryoid bodies. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 199: 552-563.
- Chal, J., and Pourquié, O. 2017. Making muscle: skeletal myogenesis in vivo and in vitro. Development 144(12): 2104–2122.
- Murry, C.E. and Keller, G. 2008. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to clinically relevant populations: lessons from embryonic development. Cell 132: 661-680.
- Mendjan, S., Mascetti, V.L., Ortmann, D., Ortiz, M., Karjosukarso, D.W., Ng, Y., Moreau, T., and Pedersen, R.A. 2014. NANOG and CDX2 pattern distinct subtypes of human mesoderm during exit from pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 15: 310-325.
- 120. Bernardo, A.S., Faial, T., Gardner, L., Niakan, K.K., Ortmann, D., Senner, C.E., Callery, E.M., Trotter, M.W., Hemberger, M., and Smith, J.C. 2011. BRACHYURY and CDX2 mediate BMP-induced differentiation of human and mouse pluripotent stem cells into embryonic and extraembryonic lineages. Cell Stem Cell 9: 144-155.
- 121. Kaufman, D.S., Hanson, E.T., Lewis, R.L., Auerbach, R., and Thomson, J.A. 2001. Hematopoietic colony-forming cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 10716-10721.
- 122. Mummery, C., Ward-van Oostwaard, D., Doevendans, P., Spijker, R., van den Brink, S., Hassink, R., van der Heyden, M., Opthof, T., Pera, M., and de la Riviere, A.B., 2003. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to cardiomyocytes: role of coculture with visceral endoderm-like cells. Circulation 107: 2733-2740.

- 123. Zhang, P., Li, J., Tan, Z., Wang, C., Liu, T., Chen, L., Yong, J., Jiang, W., Sun, X., and Du, L. 2008. Short-term BMP-4 treatment initiates mesoderm induction in human embryonic stem cells. Blood 111: 1933-1941.
- 124. Gadue, P., Huber, T.L., Paddison, P.J., and Keller, G.M. 2006. Wnt and TGF-beta signaling are required for the induction of an in vitro model of primitive streak formation using embryonic stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103(45): 16806-16811.
- 125. Gouti, M., Tsakiridis, A., Wymeersch, F.J., Huang, Y., Kleinjung, J., Wilson, V., and Briscoe, J. 2014. In vitro generation of neuromesodermal progenitors reveals distinct roles for wnt signalling in the specification of spinal cord and paraxial mesoderm identity. PLoS Biol 12: 1001937.
- 126. Shelton, M., Metz, J., Liu, J., Carpenedo, R.L., Demers, S.P., Stanford, W.L., and Skerjanc, I.S. 2014. Derivation and expansion of PAX7-positive muscle progenitors from human and mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Rep 3: 516-529.
- 127. Cuny, G.D., Yu, P.B., Laha, J.K., Xing, X., Liu, J.F., Lai, C.S., Deng, D.Y., Sachidanandan, C., Bloch, K.D. and Peterson, R.T. 2008. Structure-activity relationship study of bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18: 4388-4392.
- 128. Kennedy, K.A.M., Porter, T., Mehta, V., Ryan, S.D., Price, F., Peshdary, V., Karamboulas, C., Savage, J., Drysdale, T.A., and Li, S.C. 2009. Retinoic acid enhances skeletal muscle progenitor formation and bypasses inhibition by bone morphogenetic protein 4 but not dominant negative beta-catenin. BMC Biol 7: 67.
- 129. Chal, J., Al Tanoury, Z., Hestin, M., Gobert, B., Aivio, S., Hick, A., Cherrier, T., Nesmith, A.P., Parker, K.K., and Pourquié, O. 2016. Generation of human muscle

fibers and satellite-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Nat Protoc 11: 1833-1850.

- Kassar-Duchossoy, L., Giacone, E., Gayraud-Morel, B., Jory, A., Gomes, D., and Tajbakhsh, S. 2005. Pax3/Pax7 mark a novel population of primitive myogenic cells during development. Genes Dev 19: 1426-1431.
- Constantinides, P.G., Jones, P.A., and Gevers, W. 1977. Functional striated muscle cells from non-myoblast precursors following 5-azacytidine treatment. Nature 267: 364-366.
- Shani, M., Faerman, A., Emerson, C.P., Pearson-White, S., Dekel, I., and Magal,
 Y. 1992. The consequences of a constitutive expression of MyoD1 in ES cells and mouse embryos. Symp Soc Exp Biol 46: 19-36.
- 133. Darabi, R., Santos, F.N.C., Filareto, A., Pan, W., Koene, R., Rudnicki, M.A., Kyba, M., and Perlingeiro, R.C. R. 2011. Assessment of the myogenic stem cell compartment following transplantation of Pax3/Pax7-induced embryonic stem cell-derived progenitors. Stem Cells 29: 777-790.
- 134. Magli, A., Schnettler, E., Rinaldi, F., Bremer, P., and Perlingeiro, R.C.R. 2013. Functional dissection of Pax3 in paraxial mesoderm development and myogenesis. Stem Cells 31: 59-70.
- 135. Chan, S.K., Shi, X., Toyama, A., Arpke, R.W., Dandapat, A., Iacovino, M., Kang, J., Le, G., Hagen, H.R., and Garry, D. J. 2013. Mesp1 patterns mesoderm into cardiac, hematopoietic, or skeletal myogenic progenitors in a context-dependent manner. Cell Stem Cell 12: 587-601.

- Owens, J., Moreira, K., and Bain, G. 2013. Characterization of primary human skeletal muscle cells from multiple commercial sources. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 49(9): 695-705.
- 137. Abdelmoez, A.M., Sardón Puig, L., Smith, J.A.B., Gabriel, B.M., Savikj, M., Dollet, L., Chibalin, A.V., Krook, A., Zierath, J.R., and Pillon, N.J. 2020. Comparative profiling of skeletal muscle models reveals heterogeneity of transcriptome and metabolism. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 318(3): 615-626.
- 138. Yaffe, D., and Saxel, O. 1977. Serial passaging and differentiation of myogenic cells isolated from dystrophic mouse muscle. Nature 270(5639): 725–727.
- McMahon, D.K., Anderson, P.A., Nassar, R., Bunting, J.B., Saba, Z., Oakeley,
 A.E., and Malouf, N.N. 1994. C2C12 cells: biophysical, biochemical, and
 immunocytochemical properties. American Journal of Physiology 266(6): 1795–1802.
- Steinhart, Z., and Angers, S. 2014. Wnt Signaling in Embryonic Development and Adult Tissue Homeostasis. Wnt Signaling in Development and Disease 251–252.
- 141. Liu, C., Li, Y., Semenov, M., Han, C., Baeg, G., Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Lin, X., and He, X. 2002. Control of B-Catenin Phosphorylation / Degradation by a Dual Kinase Mechanism. Cell 108: 837–847.
- 142. Xing, Y., Clements, W.K., Kimelman, D., and Xu, W. 2003. Crystal structure of a beta-catenin/axin complex suggests a mechanism for the beta-catenin destruction complex. Genes Dev 17(22): 2753-64.
- 143. Kohler, E.M., Chandra, S.H.V., Behrens, J., and Schneikert, J. 2009. β-Catenin degradation mediated by the CID domain of APC provides a model for the selection of APC mutations in colorectal, desmoid and duodenal tumours. Hum Mol Genet 18(2): 213–226.

- 144. Pronobis, M.I., Rusan, N.M., and Peifer, M. 2015. A novel GSK3-regulated APC:Axin interaction regulates Wnt signaling by driving a catalytic cycle of efficient βcatenin destruction. Elife 4: 8022.
- Janda, C.Y., Waghray, D., Levin, A.M., Thomas, C., and Garcia, K.C. 2012.
 Structural basis of Wnt recognition by frizzled. Science 336(6090): 59–64.
- Schwarz-Romond, T., Fiedler, M., Shibata, N., Butler, P.J.G., Kikuchi, A., Higuchi,
 Y., and Bienz, M. 2007. The DIX domain of Dishevelled confers Wnt signaling by
 dynamic polymerization. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(6): 484–492.
- 147. Behrens, J., Von Kries, J.P., Kühl, M., Bruhn, L., Wedlich, D., Grosschedl, R., and Birchmeier, W. 1996. Functional interaction of β-catenin with the transcription factor LEF- 1. Nature 382: 638–642.
- 148. Borello, U. 2006. The Wnt/beta-catenin pathway regulates Gli-mediated Myf5 expression during somitogenesis. Development 133: 3723–3732.
- 149. Tajbakhsh, S. 1998. Differential activation of Myf5 and MyoD by different Wnts in explants of mouse paraxial mesoderm and the later activation of myogenesis in the absence of Myf5. Development 125: 4155–4162.
- Brunelli, S. 2007. Beta catenin-independent activation of MyoD in presomitic mesoderm requires PKC and depends on Pax3 transcriptional activity. Dev Biol 304: 604–614.
- 151. Borello, U. 1999. Differential expression of the Wnt putative receptors Frizzled during mouse somitogenesis. Mech Dev 89: 173–177.

- Otto, A. 2006. Pax3 and Pax7 expression and regulation in the avian embryo. Anat Embryol 211: 293–310.
- 153. Abu-Elmagd, M. 2010. Wnt/Lef1 signaling acts via Pitx2 to regulate somite myogenesis. Dev Biol 337: 211–219.
- Ikeya, M., and Takada, S. 1998. Wnt signaling from the dorsal neural tube is required for the formation of the medial dermomyotome. Development 125: 4969– 4976.
- 155. Hutcheson, D.A. 2009. Embryonic and fetal limb myogenic cells are derived from developmentally distinct progenitors and have different requirements for beta-catenin. Genes Dev 23: 997–1013.
- 156. Borok, M.J., Mademtzoglou, D., and Relaix, F. 2020. Bu-M-P-ing Iron: How BMP Signaling Regulates Muscle Growth and Regeneration. J Dev Biol 8(1): 4.
- Antebi, Y.E., Linton, J.M., Klumpe, H., Bintu, B., Gong, M., Su, C., McCardell, R., and Elowitz, M.B. 2017. Combinatorial signal perception in the BMP pathway. Cell 170: 1184–1196.
- 158. Paralkar, V.M., Hammonds, R.G., and Reddi, A.H. 1991. Identification and characterization of cellular binding proteins (receptors) for recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2B, an initiator of bone differentiation cascade. Proc Natl Acad. Sci USA 88: 3397–3401.
- 159. Kretzschmar, M., Liu, F., Hata, A., Doody, J., and Massagué, J. 1997. The TGFbeta family mediator Smad1 is phosphorylated directly and activated functionally by the BMP receptor kinase. Genes Dev 11: 984–995.

- 160. Chang, H., Huylebroeck, D., Verschueren, K., Guo, Q., Matzuk, M.M., and Zwijsen, A. 1999. Smad5 knockout mice die at mid-gestation due to multiple embryonic and extraembryonic defects. Development 126: 1631–1642.
- Hester, M., Thompson, J.C., Mills, J., Liu, Y., El-Hodiri, H.M., and Weinstein, M.
 2005. Smad1 and Smad8 function similarly in mammalian central nervous system development. Mol Cell Biol 25: 4683–4692.
- Lagna, G., Hata, A., Hemmati-Brivanlou, A., and Massagué, J. 1996. Partnership between DPC4 and SMAD proteins in TGF-beta signalling pathways. Nature 383: 832–836.
- 163. Hata, A., Lagna, G., Massagué, J., and Hemmati-Brivanlou, A. 1998. Smad6 inhibits BMP/Smad1 signaling by specifically competing with the Smad4 tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 12: 186–197.
- Zimmerman, L.B., De Jesús-Escobar, J.M., and Harland, R.M. 1996. The Spemann organizer signal noggin binds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4. Cell 86: 599–606.
- 165. Katagiri, T., Yamaguchi, A., Komaki, M., Abe, E., Takahashi, N., Ikeda, T., Rosen, V., Wozney, J.M., Fujisawa-Sehara, A., and Suda T. 1994. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 converts the differentiation pathway of C2C12 myoblasts into the osteoblast lineage. J Cell Biol 127: 1755–1766.
- 166. Liu, R., Ginn, S.L., Lek, M., North, K.N., Alexander, I.E., Little, D.G., Schindeler,
 A. 2009. Myoblast sensitivity and fibroblast insensitivity to osteogenic conversion by
 BMP-2 correlates with the expression of Bmpr-1a. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 10: 51.
- 167. Dörpholz, G., Murgai, A., Jatzlau, J., Horbelt, D., Belverdi, M.P., Heroven, C., Schreiber, I., Wendel, G., Ruschke, K., Stricker, S., and Knaus, P. 2017. IRS4, a novel

modulator of BMP/Smad and Akt signalling during early muscle differentiation. Sci Rep 7(1): 8778.

- Dale, L., Howes, G., Price, B.M., and Smith, J.C. 1992. Bone morphogenetic protein 4: A ventralizing factor in early Xenopus development. Development 115: 573–585.
- 169. Nojima, J., Kanomata, K., Takada, Y., Fukuda, T., Kokabu, S., Ohte, S., Takada, T., Tsukui, T., Yamamoto, T.S., and Sasanuma, H. 2010. Dual roles of smad proteins in the conversion from myoblasts to osteoblastic cells by bone morphogenetic proteins. J Biol Chem 285: 15577–15586.
- Re'em-Kalma, Y., Lamb, T., and Frank, D. 1995. Competition between noggin and bone morphogenetic protein 4 activities may regulate dorsalization during Xenopus development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 12141–12145.
- 171. Hirsinger, E., Duprez, D., Jouve, C., Malapert, P., Cooke, J., and Pourquié, O. 1997. Noggin acts downstream of Wnt and Sonic Hedgehog to antagonize BMP4 in avian somite patterning. Development 124: 4605–4614.
- Xie, Y., Su, N., and Yang, J. 2020. FGF/FGFR signaling in health and disease. Sig Transduct Target Ther 5: 181.
- 173. Zhang, X., Ibrahimi, O.A., Olsen, S.K., Umemori, H., Mohammadi, M., and Ornitz,
 D.M. 2006. Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family: The complete mammalian FGF family. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281(23): 15694–15700.
- 174. Yun, Y.R., Won, J.E., Jeon, E., Lee, S., Kang, W., Jo, H., Jang, J.H., Shin, U.S., and Kim, H.W. 2010. Fibroblast growth factors: Biology, function, and application for tissue regeneration. J Tissue Eng 218142.

- Teven, C.M., Farina, E.M., Rivas, J., and Reid, R.R. 2014. Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling in development and skeletal diseases. Genes Dis 1(2): 199–213.
- 176. Rehbein, U., Prentzell, M.T., Cadena Sandoval, M., Heberle, A.M., Henske, E.P., Opitz, C.A., and Thedieck, K. 2021. The TSC Complex-mTORC1 Axis: From Lysosomes to Stress Granules and Back. Front Cell Dev Biol 9: 751892.
- 177. Chalamalasetty, R.B., Garriock, R.J., Dunty, W.C., Kennedy, M.W., Jailwala, P., Si, H., and Yamaguchi, T.P. 2014. Mesogenin 1 is a master regulator of paraxial presomitic mesoderm differentiation. Development 141: 4285-4297.
- 178. Jurberg, A.D., Aires, R., Nóvoa, A., Rowland, J.E., and Mallo, M. 2014. Compartment-dependent activities of Wnt3a/beta-catenin signaling during vertebrate axial extension. Dev Biol 394: 253-263.
- 179. Charge, S.B.P., and Rudnicki, M.A. 2004. Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. Physiol Rev 84: 209-238.
- Itoh, N., Mima, T., and Mikawa, T. 1996. Loss of fibroblast growth factor receptors is necessary for terminal differentiation of embryonic limb muscle. Development 122: 291-300.
- 181. Flanagan-Steet, H., Hannon, K., McAvoy, M.J., Hullinger, R., and Olwin, B.B. 2000. Loss of FGF receptor 1 signaling reduces skeletal muscle mass and disrupts myofiber organization in the developing limb. Dev Biol 218: 21-37.
- 182. Bray, S. 2016. Notch signalling in context. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17: 722–735.
- Yoon, K., and Gaiano, N. 2005. Notch signaling in the mammalian central nervous system: Insights from mouse mutants. Nat Neurosci 8(6): 709–715.

- 184. Griffin, J.D., Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., Lake, R., Blacklow, S.C., Aster, J.C., and Wu, L. 2000. MAML1, a human homologue of Drosophila mastermind, is a transcriptional co-activator for NOTCH receptors. Nat Genet 26(4): 484–489.
- Buas, M.F., and Kadesch, T. 2010. Regulation of skeletal myogenesis by Notch. Exp Cell Res 316(18): 3028-3033.
- 186. Kopan, R., Nye, J.S., and Weintraub, H. 1994. The intracellular domain of mouse Notch: a constitutively activated repressor of myogenesis directed at the basic helix– loop–helix region of MyoD. Development 120: 2385–2396.
- 187. Jory, A., Le Roux, I., Gayraud-Morel, B., Rocheteau, P., Cohen-Tannoudji, M., Cumano, A., and Tajbakhsh, S. 2009. Numb promotes an increase in skeletal muscle progenitor cells in the embryonic somite. Stem Cells 27: 2769–2780.
- Conboy, I.M., and Rando, T.A. 2002. The regulation of Notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Dev Cell 3: 397–409.
- Conboy, I.M., Conboy, M.J., Smythe, G.M., and Rando, T.A. 2003. Notchmediated restoration of regenerative potential to aged muscle. Science 302: 1575– 1577.
- 190. Kuang, S., Kuroda, K., Le Grand, F., and Rudnicki, M.A. 2007. Asymmetric selfrenewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. Cell 129: 999–1010.
- 191. Schuster-Gossler, K., Cordes, R., and Gossler, A. 2007. Premature myogenic differentiation and depletion of progenitor cells cause severe muscle hypotrophy in Delta1 mutants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104: 537–542.

- 192. Choudhry, Z., Rikani, A.A., Choudhry, A.M., Tariq, S., Zakaria, F., Asghar, M.W., Sarfraz, M.K., Haider, K., Shafiq, A.A., and Mobassarah, N.J. 2014. Sonic hedgehog signalling pathway: a complex network. Ann Neurosci 21(1): 28-31.
- 193. Bitgood, M.J., Shen, L., and McMahon, A.P. 1996. Sertoli cell signaling by Desert hedgehog regulates the male germline. Curr Biol 6(3): 298–304.
- 194. St-Jacques, B., Hammerschmidt, M., and McMahon, A.P. 1999. Indian hedgehog signaling regulates proliferation and differentiation of chondrocytes and is essential for bone formation. Genes Dev 13(16): 2072–2086.
- 195. Dyer, M., Farrington, S.M., Mohn, D., Munday, J.R., and Baron, M.H. 2001. Indian hedgehog activates hematopoiesis and vasculogenesis and can respective neurectodermal cell fate in the mouse embryo. Development 128(10): 1717–1730.
- 196. Ericson, J., Morton, S., Kawakami, A., Roelink, H., and Jessell, T.M. 1996. Two critical periods of Sonic Hedgehog signaling required for the specification of motor neuron identity. Cell 87(4): 661–673.
- Belgacem, Y.H., Hamilton, A.M., Shim, S., Spencer, K.A., and Borodinsky, L.N.
 2016. The many hats of Sonic hedgehog signaling in nervous system development and disease. J Dev Biol 4(4): 35.
- 198. Chen, Y., and Struhl, G. 1996. Dual roles for patched in sequestering and transducing Hedgehog. Cell 87(3): 553–563.
- Ma, Y., Erkner, A., Gong, R., Yao, S., Taipale, J., Basler, K., and Beachy, P.A. 2002. Hedgehog-mediated patterning of the mammalian embryo requires transporter-like function of dispatched. Cell 111(1): 63–75.

- Hui, C., and Angers, S. 2011. Gli proteins in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 27(1): 513–537.
- 201. Ingham, P.W., Taylor, A.M., and Nakano, Y. 1991. Role of the Drosophila patched gene in positional signalling. Nature 353(6340): 184–187.
- Haycraft, C.J., Banizs, B., Aydin-Son, Y., Zhang, Q., Michaud, E.J., and Yoder,
 B.K. 2005. Gli2 and Gli3 localize to cilia and require the intraflagellar transport protein
 Polaris for processing and function. PLoS Genet 1(4): 53.
- Goodrich, L.V., Johnson, R.L., Milenkovic, L., McMahon, J.A., and Scott, M.P. 1996. Conservation of the hedgehog/patched signaling pathway from flies to mice: Induction of a mouse patched gene by Hedgehog. Genes Dev 10(3): 301–312.
- 204. Buttitta, L., Mo, R., Hui, C.C., and Fan, C.M. 2003. Interplays of Gli2 and Gli3 and their requirement in mediating Shh-dependent sclerotome induction. Development 130(25): 6233–6243.
- 205. Dai, P., Akimaru, H., Tanaka, Y., Maekawa, T., Nakafuku, M., and Ishii, S. 1999. Sonic hedgehog-induced activation of the Gli1 promoter is mediated by GLI3. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274(12): 8143–8152.
- 206. Yang, C., Chen, W., Chen, Y., and Jiang, J. 2012. Smoothened transduces Hedgehog signal by forming a complex with Evc/Evc2. Cell Res 22(11): 1593–1604.
- 207. Chen, Y., Yue, S., Xie, L., Pu, X.H., Jin, T., and Cheng, S.Y. 2011. Dual phosphorylation of suppressor of fused (Sufu) by PKA and GSK3β regulates its stability and localization in the primary cilium. Journal of Biological Chemistry 286(15): 13502–13511.

- 208. Liao, H., Cai, J., Liu, C., Shen, L., Pu, X., Yao, Y., Han, B., Yu, T., Cheng, S.Y., and Yue, S. 2020. Protein phosphatase 4 promotes Hedgehog signaling through dephosphorylation of Suppressor of fused. Cell Death Dis 11: 686.
- 209. Infante, P., Faedda, R., Bernardi, F., Bufalieri, F., Severini, L.L., Alfonsi, R., Mazzà, D., Siler, M., Coni, S., Po, A., Petroni, M., Ferretti, E., Mori, M., De Smaele, E., Canettieri, G., Capalbo, C., Maroder, M., Screpanti, I., Kool, M., Pfister, S.M., Guardavaccaro, D., Gulino, A., and Di Marcotullio, L. 2018. Itch/β-Arrestin2-dependent non-proteolytic ubiquitylation of SuFu controls Hedgehog signalling and medulloblastoma tumorigenesis. Nat Commun 9(1): 1–17.
- Cheng, S.Y., and Bishop, J.M. 2002. Suppressor of Fused represses Gli-mediated transcription by recruiting the SAP18-mSin3 corepressor complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99(8): 5442–5447.
- 211. Munsterberg, A.E. 1995. Combinatorial signaling by Sonic hedgehog and Wnt family members induces myogenic bHLH gene expression in the somite. Genes Dev 9:2911–2922.
- Borycki, A.G., Brunk, B., Tajbakhsh, S., Buckingham, M., Chiang, C., and Emerson, C.P. 1999. Sonic hedgehog controls epaxial muscle determination through Myf5 activation. Development. 126: 4053-4063.
- 213. Chiang, C., Litingtung, Y., Lee, E., Young, K.E., Corden, J.L., Westphal, H., and Beachy, P.A. 1996. Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. Nature 383: 407–413.
- 214. Zhang, X.M., Ramalho-Santos, M., and McMahon, A.P. 2001. Smoothened mutants reveal redundant roles for Shh and Ihh signaling including regulation of L/R asymmetry by the mouse node. Cell 105: 781–792.
- 215. Hammond, C.L., Hinits, Y., Osborn, D.P., Minchin, J.E., Tettamanti, G., and Hughes, S.M. 2007. Signals and myogenic regulatory factors restrict pax3 and pax7 expression to dermomyotome-like tissue in zebrafish. Dev Biol 302: 504–521.
- Johnson, R.L., Laufer, E., Riddle, R.D., and Tabin, C. 1994. Ectopic expression of Sonic hedgehog alters dorsal–ventral patterning of somites. Cell 79: 1165–1173
- 217. Bentzinger, C.F., Wang, Y.X., and Rudnicki, M.A. 2012. Building muscle: molecular regulation of myogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4(2): 8342.
- 218. Pourquie, O., Coltey, M., Breant, C., and Le Douarin, N.M. 1995. Control of somite patterning by signals from the lateral plate. Proc Natl Acad Sci 92: 3219–3223.
- 219. Piccioni, G.E., Palladino, M., Gatto, I., Smith, R.C., Neri, V., Marcantoni, M., Giarretta, I., Silver, M., Straino, S., Capogrossi, M., Landolfi, R., and Pola, R. 2014. Sonic hedgehog gene therapy increases the ability of the dystrophic skeletal muscle to regenerate after injury. Gene Therapy 21(4): 413–421.
- 220. Tostar, C.J., Meis-Kindblom, J.M., Kindblom, L.G., Toftgård, R., and Undén, A.B. 2006. Deregulation of the hedgehog signalling pathway: a possible role for the PTCH and SUFU genes in human rhabdomyoma and rhabdomyosarcoma development. The Journal of Pathology 208(1): 17–25.
- 221. Murakami, Y., Ueki, R., Tachikawa, T., and Hirose, M. 2019. The Basic Study of the Mechanism of Propofol-Related Infusion Syndrome Using a Murine Skeletal Muscle Injury Model. Anesth Pain Med 9(3): 89417.

- 222. Baqué, C.B., Gerard, R.D., Guinovart, J.J., and Gómez-Foix, A.M. 1994. Adenovirus-mediated delivery into myocytes of muscle glycogen phosphorylase, the enzyme deficient in patients with glycogen-storage disease type V. Biochemical Journal 304(3): 1009–1014.
- Manchineella, G., Khanum, K.K., Ramamurthy, P.C., Basu, B., and Govindaraju,
 T. 2016. Pigmented Silk Nanofibrous Composite for Skeletal Muscle Tissue Engineering. Advanced Healthcare Materials 5(10): 1222–1232.
- 224. Panda, K., Yoon, J.H., Martindale, J.L., Yang, X., Curtis, J., Mercken, E.M., Chenette, D.M., Zhang, Y., Schneider, R.J., Becker, K.G., de Cabo, R., and Gorospe, M. 2014. RNA-Binding Protein AUF1 Promotes Myogenesis by Regulating MEF2C Expression Levels. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 34(16): 3106–3119.
- 225. Jørgensen, J., Davis, E.E., Thedchanamoorthy, T., Al-Bader, R.W.A., Jensen, C.H., and Schrøder, H.D. 2013. Delta-like 1 homolog (dlk1): a marker for rhabdomyosarcomas implicated in skeletal muscle regeneration. PloS One 8(4): 60692–60692.
- 226. Yuan, W.X., Liu, T., and He, J.Q. 2020. Cyclopamine functions as a suppressor of benign prostatic hyperplasia by inhibiting epithelial and stromal cell proliferation via suppression of the Hedgehog signaling pathway. International Journal of Molecular Medicine 46(1): 311–319.
- 227. Morales-Alcala, I.C., Timmis, A.J., and Riobo-Del Galdo, N.A. 2021. Integral Membrane Protein 2A Is a Negative Regulator of Canonical and Non-Canonical Hedgehog Signalling. Cells 10(8): 2003.
- 228. Cooper, A.F., Yu, K.P., Brueckner, M., Brailey, L.L., Johnson, L., McGrath, J.M., and Bale, A.E. 2005. Cardiac and CNS defects in a mouse with targeted disruption of suppressor of fused. Development 132(19): 4407–4417.

- Zhang, Z., Shen, L., Law, K., Zhang, Z., Liu, X., Hua, H., Li, S., Huang, H., Yue, S., Hui, C., and Cheng, S.Y. 2017. Suppressor of Fused Chaperones Gli Proteins To Generate Transcriptional Responses to Sonic Hedgehog Signaling. Mol Cell Biol 37(3): 1–18.
- 230. Cwinn, M.A., Mazerolle, C., McNeill, B., Ringuette, R., Thurig, S., Hui, C.C., and Wallace, V.A. 2011. Suppressor of fused is required to maintain the multipotency of neural progenitor cells in the retina. J Neurosci 31(13): 5169–5180.
- 231. Kim, J.J., Jiwani, T., Erwood, S., Loree, J., and Rosenblum, N.D. 2018. Suppressor of fused controls cerebellar neuronal differentiation in a manner modulated by GLI3 repressor and Fgf15. Dev Dyn 247(1): 156–169.
- 232. Winkler, C.C., Yabut, O.R., Fregoso, S.P., Gomez, H.G., Dwyer, B.E., Pleasure, S.J., and Franco, S.J. 2018. The dorsal wave of neocortical oligodendrogenesis begins embryonically and requires multiple sources of sonic hedgehog. J Neurosci 38(23): 5237–5250.
- Spice, D.M., Dierolf, J., and Kelly, G.M. 2022. Suppressor of Fused regulation of Hedgehog Signaling is Required for Proper Astrocyte Differentiation. Stem Cells Dev 1–20.
- 234. Nan, K., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., Li, D., Zhao, Y., Jing, Z., Liu, K., Shang, D., Gen,g Z., and Fan, L. 2021. Exosomes from miRNA-378-modified adipose-derived stem cells prevent glucocorticoid-induced osteonecrosis of the femoral head by enhancing angiogenesis and osteogenesis via targeting miR-378 negatively regulated suppressor of fused (Sufu). Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1): 331.

- 235. Yang, B.B., Zheng, Y.X., Yan, B.X., Cao, H.L., Landeck, L., Chen, J.Q., Li, W., Min, M., Wang, P., Cai, S.Q., Zheng, M., Man, X.Y. 2020. Suppressor of Fused Inhibits Skin Wound Healing. Adv Wound Care 9(5): 233-244.
- 236. Caparrós-Martín, M., Reytor, E., Pacheco, M., Fernandez, M., Perez-Aytes, A., Gean, E., Lapunzina, P., Peters, H., Goodship, J.A., and Ruiz-Perez, V.L. 2013. The ciliary Evc/Evc2 complex interacts with Smo and controls Hedgehog pathway activity in chondrocytes by regulating Sufu/Gli3 dissociation and Gli3 trafficking in primary cilia. Human Molecular Genetics 22(1): 124–139.
- 237. Zhu, S., Ye, Y., Shi, Y., Dang, J., Feng, X., Chen, Y., Liu, F., Olsen, N., Huang, J., Zheng, S.G. 2020. Sonic Hedgehog Regulates Proliferation, Migration and Invasion of Synoviocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis via JNK Signaling. Front Immunol 11: 1300.
- 238. Netz, Y., Lidor, R., and Ziv, G. 2019. Small samples and increased variability discussing the need for restricted types of randomization in exercise interventions in old age. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act 16: 17.
- 239. Li, G., Tan, J., Wang, S., Wu, Q., Wan, L., Zhang, Z., and Huang, O. 2021. Aberrant activation of the Hedgehog signaling pathway in granulosa cells from patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. Bioengineered 12(2): 12123–12134.
- 240. Ma, S., Sang, Y.Z., Wang, P., and Zhang, Z.G. 2023. High Expression of SMO and GLI1 Genes with Poor Prognosis in Malignant Mesothelioma. BioMed Research International 6575194.
- 241. Lian, Y.L., Chen, K.W., Chou, Y.T., Ke, T.L., Chen, B.C., Lin, Y.C., and Chen, L. 2020. PIP3 depletion rescues myoblast fusion defects in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. J Cell Sci 133(8): 240325.

- 242. Watkins, S.J., Borthwick, G.M., and Arthur, H.M. 2011. The H9C2 cell line and primary neonatal cardiomyocyte cells show similar hypertrophic responses in vitro. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 47(2): 125-131.
- 243. Tan, A., Younis, A.Z., and Evans, A. 2023. PARP1 mediated PARylation contributes to myogenic progression and glucocorticoid transcriptional response. Cell Death Discov 9: 133.
- 244. Zheng, J.K., Wang, Y., Karandikar, A., Wang, Q., Gai, H., Liu, A.L., Peng, C., and Sheng, H.Z. 2006. Skeletal myogenesis by human embryonic stem cells. Cell Research 16(8): 713–722.
- 245. Kibschull, M., Nguyen, T.T.N., and Chow, T. 2023. Differentiation of patientspecific void urine-derived human induced pluripotent stem cells to fibroblasts and skeletal muscle myocytes. Sci Rep 13: 4746.
- 246. Yu, D., Cai, Z., Li, D., Zhang, Y., He, M., Yang, Y., Liu, D., Xie, W., Li, Y., and Xiao, W. 2021. Myogenic Differentiation of Stem Cells for Skeletal Muscle Regeneration. Stem Cells Int 4: 8884283.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Suleyman Abdullah
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	The University of Calgary Calgary, Alberta, Canada 2015-2020 B.Sc.
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2020-2023 M.Sc.
Honours and Awards:	Mitacs Research Training Award, 2020, \$9000
	Alexander Rutherford Scholarship, 2015, \$2500
	Jason Lang Scholarship, 2020, \$1000
Related Work Experience:	Teaching Assistant Department of Biology The University of Western Ontario 2020-2023